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Performance report
Welcome to NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group’s third annual report covering
the financial year 2015/16.

Introduction
We are NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCG) which is the statutory
health body responsible for the planning and buying of NHS services to meet the needs of
the local community. We are a membership organisation and our members are the 51 GP
practices in Sunderland, organised into five localities: Coalfields, Sunderland North,
Sunderland East, Sunderland West and Washington, and together we cover a population
of around 281,500.
The CCG became a statutory body on 1 April 2013 following the changes described in the
Health and Social Care Act 2012. We were formed to take over the commissioning of the
majority of health services including planned and emergency hospital care, rehabilitation,
community and mental health and learning disability services. We also commission
emergency and urgent care services throughout the city, general practice services (with
effect from 1 April 2015) and services for any patients not registered with a general
practice who live locally.

Preparation of our accounts
The accounts included in this document have been prepared under a Direction issued by
the NHS Commissioning Board under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The CCG is a ‘going concern’ with nothing arising in-year or at the year end, including up
to the time of this report to call that into doubt. The notes to the accounts indicate that the
accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis. Public sector bodies are
assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the
future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in
public documents.

Overview from the chief officer and clinical chair
We have a great deal to be proud of over the past 12 months. We have embraced the
challenges set out in the five year forward view by NHS England, and have been at the
forefront of national developments – and in particular being named a vanguard for new
models of care around community services integration.
We were delighted to be awarded best newcomer by Investors in People, an award based
on the hard work and effort our team put in to ensure we develop our people and the
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organisation to deliver a first-class service for the people of Sunderland. This was followed
by further success at the GP awards, where our Washington locality won clinical team of
the year for paediatrics.
The work of the CCG’s mental health commissioning team was awarded the mental health
commissioner of the year award at the national ‘Positive Practice in Mental Health Awards
2015’. The award recognised the collaborative approach to commissioning that the team
demonstrated in delivering the whole system transformation of mental health provision in
Sunderland.
The finance teams of Sunderland CCG and Sunderland City Council were announced as
joint winners of the ‘Public Services Finance Team of the Year 2015’ at the North East
Accountancy Awards. Again, collaboration was highlighted as the teams worked across
organisational boundaries to support out of hospital integrated care and help develop one
of the largest better care funds in the country.
These awards are just a few examples of recognition for a whole host of improvements we
have made over the past year as we continue to develop as an organisation and play a
key role in the reform of the local health system.
We have continued to prove that we are willing to play a key role in improving health and
healthcare – something evidenced by NHS England assurance ratings of commissioners.
From the first quarter of the year we were assessed as ‘good’ in four of the five domains
that demonstrate effective commissioning, with an outstanding rating for the fifth domain of
being a well led organisation. This has been maintained throughout the year and will be
reassessed at the end of the year.
Taking on general practice commissioning in 2015/16 was the right thing to do, not least
because this is what our member practices wanted, and because we believe we can
influence improvements for patients. We now have a written strategy for general practice
in the city and this will help us to continue to make progress.
As we look forward, it is clear that delivering on the general practice strategy developed in
2015/16 is key to our success as a CCG. Out-of-hospital care is our biggest transformation
area and general practice is now even more critical to delivering what is needed. We hope
that by next year our patients and members will see the promises set out in the strategy
being delivered, bringing better patient outcomes, strengthening practices and also seeing
real-terms investment to reflect general practices’ core role in delivering and coordinating
the out-of-hospital care agenda.
Sunderland’s vanguard and our integrated team work is progressing well, with all five of
our locality teams involved in developments. There has also been significant focus on
developing community-integrated teams and recovery at home services, as well as
continued improvement in the urgent care system.
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We have also made significant efforts to enhance our engagement strategy and undertook
a benchmarking exercise against the aspirations set out in ‘Transforming Participation in
Health and Social Care’, which has led to changes and improvements to the way we
involve patients and the public in our transformation plans.
As a clinically-led organisation we are familiar with the issues and challenges we are
facing, both locally and nationally. A significant challenge for us going forward is the
change to national funding formula by NHS England. The formula and allocation for
2016/17 to 2020/21 has been updated, and according to the new formula the CCG is
deemed to be 18.6% over-funded. Due to a rapid pace of change policy adopted by NHS
England the CCG will receive real term cuts in funding unlike most other CCGs and other
NHS commissioners.
The loss of average growth funding is estimated to equivalent to a loss of funding for
Sunderland of £45m. This, coupled with rising demand for NHS services and reduced tariff
efficiency targets, results in the CCG being required to identify efficiencies over the next
five years of approximately £60m. We have developed plans to help achieve these
efficiencies and monitor our progress closely towards delivery of these but we cannot
underestimate the very real challenge this presents us over the next few years.
In this context, as a commissioner of services we must be challenging but also realistic as
we strive to provide the people of Sunderland with the best possible sustainable health
services.
Finally, we would like to thank all of those who have helped us in developing and
delivering health services over the past year, including member practices, partner
organisations, patients and the public.

Dr Ian Pattison
Clinical chair

David Gallagher
Chief officer (accountable officer)
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About NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group
NHS Sunderland CCG (the CCG) is the statutory body responsible for planning,
purchasing and monitoring the delivery and quality of most of the local NHS healthcare
and health services for the people of Sunderland. It is made up of doctors, nurses and
other health professionals with management support. All 51 GP practices in Sunderland
are members of the CCG.
The members have elected six GPs to lead the CCG on their behalf, working as part of a
wider governing body which includes the local authority, lay members, senior managers, a
secondary care clinician and a senior nurse.
The governing body and its formal committees are responsible for setting the strategy for
health improvement in the city and ensuring the CCG delivers the improvements signalled
in the strategy. In doing this, it works very closely with other partners, as members of
Sunderland’s health and wellbeing board, to improve the overall wellbeing of local people.
Our vision is to achieve Better Health for Sunderland.
The CCG uses the following seven core values to support the delivery of our vision:

In order to achieve our vision, we identified three key strategic objectives on the following
page:
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•

Transforming out-of-hospital care (through joining up health and social care and
enable seven-day working)

•

Transforming in-hospital care, specifically urgent and emergency care (and
enabling seven-day working)

•

Enabling self-care and sustainability to ensure the NHS can survive and thrive in
the future

We aim to meet these objectives by having a whole-system approach, working closely with
citizens, patients, carers, providers and partners to utilise evidence-based service
improvement techniques to maximise value-adding activities. We have adopted the
evidence-based North East Transformation System (NETS) as our reform methodology
and will adopt other complementary approaches as needed.

Overview of Sunderland
Sunderland has a population of approximately 281,000 people. Over the next 10 years this
is expected to rise by at least 2,179 (0.8%).
Large increases in the elderly population, and particularly the very elderly, have significant
implications for healthcare over the next 5, 10 and 20 years.
Sunderland’s community is also affected by lifestyle factors such as obesity, smoking and
alcohol abuse which pose a major risk to health and wellbeing.
Major health challenges are consistent across our 5 localities. They include:
• A growing ageing population with escalating health needs
•

Poor health compared to the rest of the UK

•

Excess deaths, particularly from heart disease, cancer and respiratory problems

•

An over-reliance on hospital care

•

Disintegrated healthcare service

•

Health inequalities across the city

Commissioning priorities for 2015/16
To respond to health challenges, a joint assessment of local needs with Sunderland City
Council recommends that those commissioning services in Sunderland prioritise the
following:
•

Improve mental health and mental wellness

•

Raise the expectation of being healthy for all individuals, families and communities
and promote health-seeking behaviours
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•

Reduce unemployment

•

Address the impact of tobacco, leading to reduced overall smoking prevalence (all
ages) and numbers of young people starting to smoke

•

Reduce overall alcohol consumption and increase treatment services for those with
problem drinking

•

Increase active living

•

Commission excellent services for cancer

•

Commission excellent services for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD)

•

Commission excellent services for cardiovascular disease including diabetes

•

Support people to live independently and increase levels of self-care

•

Commission better services for mental health problems

To address these priorities, we will continue to work closely with the local community and
engage with a wide range of local partners to ensure the very best health and social care
for our patients.

Transforming out of hospital services
The Sunderland vision, to transform care out of hospital through increased integration of
services and more person-centred care, has been selected as one of 29 ‘vanguard’ areas
within England. The model of care we are testing is that of a multi-speciality community
provider, this involves core community providers coming together to ensure a co-ordinated
response to patients that is focussed on what is important to them.
The initiative is led by the CCG and the city council and supported by many local
organisations including foundation trusts, care services, GP alliances and the voluntary
sector.
The CCG has already begun implementing changes to improve options for patients to live
with support in the community. These include an enhanced rapid response, citywide
Recovery at Home service, which helps to support peoples’ recovery after discharge from
hospital and prevent emergency admissions. This service, with 24/7 working, provides a
single point of contact for patients and professionals, with key nursing and care teams
being based in one building with a shared management arrangement.
The other key change is the development of community integrated teams. This involved
bringing together various community nursing teams, social workers, GPs, carer centre
workers and a Age UK living well worker, so that care can be provided in a more
coordinated, planned and proactive way, particularly for the most complex patients who
are at risk of avoidable emergency admissions to hospital. The teams are co-located in
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five centres in the five localities and then are wrapped around the general practices and
their registered list of patients in that Locality.
GP practices throughout the city will also be supported to work together more and provide
enhanced care in the community to people with long-term conditions.
For patients, all of this out of hospital transformation means a better patient experience –
person centred co-ordinated care. For example, elderly patients with long term conditions
will be better able to manage their condition and stay at home or in supported
accommodation for as long as possible. The quality of care will also improve for people in
care homes as the targeted support will focus on those most in need, irrespective of their
place of residence. Instead of ending up in hospital inappropriately, those patients with
complex and often longer term needs will now have person-centred, co-ordinated care.
For commissioners and providers this is about ensuring a more sustainable system of care
through more effective use of increasing limited resources.
Also, in July 2015, the North East Urgent Care Network was confirmed as one of eight new
urgent and emergency care vanguards which the CCG is part of. The programme is an
important part of the NHS Five Year Forward View, which sets out the health, quality of
care and funding gaps that will open up if the NHS does not change.

Best newcomer award
The CCG won best newcomer at the Investor in People awards, which received more than
400 entries from organisations working in a variety of sectors and locations across the
globe.
The award was a big achievement for the CCG as it demonstrated the outstanding work of
its employees to deliver a first-class service for the people of Sunderland. The CCG
received recognition for its organisational approach to influencing and enable
improvements.

Clinical team of the year for paediatrics
The CCG’s Washington locality won the clinical team of the year for paediatrics at the
national GP awards for its Washington children’s project, which included a health-focused
family fun day held at the Children’s Centre in Concord.
Important health messages were highlighted at the family fun day and the role of
pharmacists and GPs in supporting parents with poorly children. Parents were helped to
understand the most convenient services for a variety of ailments and when it is
appropriate to use GP-led urgent care centres and accident and emergency (A&E).
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The day, supported by practices, health visitors and paediatric A&E, helped develop
further initiatives over recent months.

Finance team of the year award
The finance teams of Sunderland CCG and Sunderland City Council were announced as
joint winners of the ‘Public Services Finance Team of the Year 2015’ at the prestigious
North East Accountancy Awards. This was in recognition of the efforts of the team
supporting out of hospital integrated care, and helping develop one of the largest Better
Care Funds in the country. The team were commended for their enthusiasm and efforts to
work collaboratively across organisational boundaries for the benefit of the residents of
Sunderland.

Mental health commissioner of the year award
The work of the CCG’s mental health commissioning team was recognised for their
approach to collaborative commissioning, delivering the whole system transformation of
mental health provision in Sunderland. The team won the ‘Mental Health Commissioner of
the Year Award’ at the national ‘Positive Practice in Mental Health Awards 2015’.

Brain injury service
The CCG worked in partnership with Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group
to improve services for people with brain injuries to offer specialist assessment,
rehabilitation and community support for patients.
The change saw existing services in Gateshead expand to help patients with mild to
moderate injuries, as well as more severe cases, and extend services into Sunderland for
the first time.
Around 50 people every week in Sunderland and Gateshead attend hospital having
suffered a head injury, with several developing a brain injury which can vary in severity.
The service offers assessment, advice and specialist rehabilitation, helping people with
ongoing problems to regain their independence and functions as far as possible, as well as
adapting to any long-term challenges from their injury.
The development was welcomed by patients and their families, who helped to design the
new service.
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Primary care co-commissioning and working with GP practices
The purpose of primary care co-commissioning is to help clinically-led, local solutions in
primary care in response to the needs of the local population. This is informed by the local
joint strategic needs assessments (JSNAs) and joint health and wellbeing strategies. Cocommissioning is one of a series of changes set out in the NHS Five Year Forward View,
as a key driver in developing seamless, integrated out-of-hospital services based around
the diverse needs of the local population.
NHS England offered CCGs across the country three different options to be involved in
commissioning general practice with effect from April 2015. The CCG, following
consultation and a vote from GP member practices, elected to opt for the highest level of
delegated co-commissioning. In March 2015, we were advised that our application for level
three delegated arrangements for general practice co-commissioning had been approved.
Following a six-month period of engagement with member practices, patients, the general
public and partners, the CCG finalised its commissioning strategy for general practice.
The CCG’s strategic aim is to sustain and transform general practice to ensure the
provision of high-quality primary medical care, delivering improved health outcomes for
local people, now and in the future.
To realise this aim it has set out five strategic objectives:
• Support general practice to increase capacity and build the workforce
•

Improve patient access

•

Ensure the central, coordinating role of general practice in delivering out-of-hospital
care

•

Support better health through prevention and increasing patients’ capacity for selfcare

•

Encourage new working arrangements between practices

A range of priorities have been developed to support delivery of these objectives over the
next three years.

Childhood illnesses app and booklet
The CCG’s Washington locality won the ‘Clinical Team of the Year for Paediatrics’ at the
GP Awards for its Washington children’s project, which included a health focused family
fun day held at the Children’s Centre in Concord.
The family fun day, supported by practices, health visitors and paediatric A&E, helped
develop further initiatives including the development of a childhood illnesses booklet and
app.
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Healthcare professionals in Washington developed the app and booklet aimed at people
looking after young children, as well as those about to become parents. It gives easy-tounderstand guidance on common ailments affecting children, as well as advice on when
and where to seek further treatment.
As well as the app, available from the App Store and Google Play, parents of children
under the age of five can also get a copy of the booklet from their GP surgery, health
visitor, nursery, walk-in centre (urgent care centre) or A&E department.

Tackling winter pressures
Winter is always a busier time for health services and the CCG has ensured that measures
were put in place to meet the additional demand.
The CCG supported the national ‘stay well this winter campaign’ implemented by NHS
England and Public Health England, with advertising and promotional activity taking place
throughout winter.
This campaign encouraged people to prepare for common winter ailments which can be
easily treated at home or with advice from a pharmacist – keeping valuable appointments
with doctors and nurses open for those who really need them.
In leading the urgent care board along with its partners, the CCG was involved throughout
the campaign and invested in additional communications aimed at patients and the public
to help them in their decision about the right place to go for their treatment.
Whilst it was recognised that the 95% target for accident and emergency within City
Hospitals Sunderland was not achieved, through the concerted efforts of urgent care board
and its partners, significant improvements were made which have been recognised
nationally.

Public and patient involvement
Public and patient involvement (PPI) is an integral part of the work that the CCG carries
out, and we have a clear commitment to working with the public, patients, carers and
communities and their representatives, to ensure health and social care services are
shaped around what the people of Sunderland need.
Our PPI strategy aims to:
• Ensure appropriate and effective mechanisms are in place so people can be
involved in the commissioning process at all stages
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•

As part of ‘All Together Sunderland’, identify further opportunities for joint
engagement and involvement activities with our partners

•

Use our asset based approach with key community, voluntary and interest groups,
recognising their ability to reach further into communities

•

Ensure we meet our legal duties to engage and consult, for equality delivery, and
relevant NHS policy for engagement including the NHS Constitution and case law
for consultation.

In spring 2015, we reviewed our PPI activity against national priorities to ensure our
commissioning activities were planning reflective of the communities we serve. A detailed
benchmarking exercise was undertaken to assess our assurance against the aspirations
set out in NHS England’s ‘Transforming Participation’. This work resulted in us refreshing
our strategy and helped us identify a number of actions to help us to continue to improve
and develop our PPI agenda.
One of key recommendations following the review was in relation to the further
development of patient participation groups (PPGs) within GP practices across
Sunderland, as well as the potential to develop and utilise locality patient groups (LPGs) in
each area of the city. These localities reflect the way public sector services work together
around the different parts of the city.
Other areas of PPI activity and development include:
Sunderland Health Forum
We increased the number of our Sunderland health forums to give people more
opportunities to attend and become involved in our work. The forum now meets 10 times
per year - with one daytime and one evening meeting – and the subjects discussed are the
real issues we want to hear people’s views on to help us make improvements to our
commissioned services wherever we can.
The forums helped to inform the development of the primary care strategy and were
involved in the engagement for breast care services.
Other key items discussed throughout the year included:
• Revised code of conduct for engagement
• New musculoskeletal services
• Recovery at Home service
• Equality delivery system
• Plans for the future of general practice in Sunderland
• Integrated care teams
• Use of antibiotics
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Sunderland breast services
Sunderland CCG has started the process to develop a new breast-care service model that
will deliver a high-quality service that best suits the patient, improves outcomes and is
cost-effective. As part of this process, the CCG conducted an engagement exercise to
gauge what should form part of the new service specification.
As the CCG is committed to putting patients at the centre of service delivery and ensuring
patients are key stakeholders in the commissioning cycle, this engagement exercise was
recognised as a priority starting point for the service.
The engagement and subsequent insight helped develop the service specification for
prospective new providers.
Feedback was sought from Sunderland residents who had been referred for diagnostics or
surgery by their GP for any breast condition, including non-cancer and suspected cancer.
Commissioning strategy for general practice
The CCG undertook an extensive engagement exercise with local people and
stakeholders in April 2015 as the new commissioner for general practice. This included a
piece of market research to build on the national, regional and local data available and
to inform and develop the general practice strategy.

The methodology used to engage with residents living in Sunderland, included:
•

•
•
•

On-street survey with 401 members of the general public; quota sampling was
used to map the participant profile to that of Sunderland to ensure the sample
is statistically representative of the population of Sunderland
An online survey with 32 members of patient participation groups (PPGs)
Focus groups to provide an opportunity to ask very specific questions and
explore responses in much more detail
Discussion with patients at Sunderland Health Forum

Drawing on past and current perceptions of general practice services, Sunderland
residents were asked specifically how they feel about the following areas in general
practice:
•
•

Access and waiting times
How and where improvements can be made

The feedback from this engagement work was fed into the development of the strategy.

Single contract proposal for three GP practices
The CCG proposed a single contract for approximately 13,500 patients registered at three
GP practices – Encompass Healthcare, Pennywell Medical Centre and Barmston Medical
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GP practice. The proposed new contract will cover a minimum of nine years (with an
option to extend for a further two) and the core primary medical services offered by any
new provider under this contract will not change.
The changes to the contract have arisen from the need to review the need for services in
light of the fixed term contracts coming to an end. The review identified the need for these
services to continue in all three sites. The single contract is expected to support the
sustainability of the services longer term, in light of both the move to a more equitable
funding rate in line with all other practices and the recruitment and retention pressures on
the workforce. Whilst the core primary care service at each site will not change, this
contract model will provide a greater choice of access for registered patients as they will
be able to attend any of the sites for services: The Galleries, Westerhope Road
(Barmston) and Pennywell Shopping Precinct.
The CCG undertook an intensive communication and engagement exercise with the
patients registered in the practices and with stakeholders. In relation to patients, the CCG
wrote to patients at their home address to confirm that they will see services continue and
to explain the procurement process with the aim of reassuring patients and understanding
what was important to them so that this could be considered as part of the procurement
process.
Patients were also provided with a patient information sheet and feedback form, which
were also available online. There was also an option to attend one of the three patient
information sessions in each practice to raise any questions or provide comments.
The opportunities to engage were also circulated to local organisations to encourage
attendance as well as the practice patient participation groups where these were
established. Answers to all the questions raised were circulated following the events to all
patients via their home address. This information and any comments were also considered
by the primary care commissioning committee prior to the launch of the tender process.

Working with partners
The CCG has continued to develop its local relationships with partners in the city and
further afield.
It has worked closely with Sunderland City Council and sits with other partners on the
Sunderland Health and Wellbeing Board. It has developed relationships with Healthwatch
Sunderland, which works to ensure that the views of people who use health and social
care services are heard. It regularly engages with the community and voluntary sector to
gain an invaluable insight into the health challenges faced by local people.
The CCG works with a range of partners including:
• NHS England
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•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

NHS providers of healthcare – City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust,
South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust, Northumberland, Tyne and Wear Mental
Health NHS Foundation Trust, North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation
Trust and GP practices
Other providers of NHS healthcare – independent sector, community and voluntary
sector, including Spire Washington Hospital and Northern Doctors Urgent Care
Sunderland City Council – in particular working with adult social care, housing,
public health and safeguarding adults and children
Sunderland Health and Wellbeing Board
Sunderland Healthwatch
Sunderland Partnership
Neighbouring CCGs
Local MPs
Local schools

Key issues and risks
During 2015/16, the CCG identified the following key risks to the delivery of its strategic
objectives:
• No additional running costs allowance to account for potential commissioning
responsibilities
• Risk of an overspend in relation to prescribing and commissioned services
• Risk to the delivery of key NHS Constitution standards (A&E, 18 weeks and cancer)
• Unprecedented safeguarding activity
• Failing to make progress in improving health
• Impact of efficiencies made by commissioners and providers across the system not
sufficient
Mitigating actions plans were developed to address these wherever possible and progress
against these actions plans monitored by the governing body and audit committee via the
governing body assurance framework. This process is described in more detail in the
governance statement section of this annual report.
In relation to performance issues, the CCG identified the main issues during 2015/16 as
follows:
• Accident and emergency four hour waits
• Referral to treatment waiting times
• Ambulance response times
• Healthcare acquired infections
• Cancer waits
• Mental health
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Further detail on these issues is included in the performance analysis section below.

Performance summary
So far throughout the year, we have been working hard to achieve our targets as set out
by the NHS Constitution and the CCG assurance framework. The next few pages highlight
our performance against the key areas – A&E four hour waits, ambulance handover times,
cancer waiting times, referral to treatment, our local quality indicators, healthcare acquired
infections and mental health.

Performance analysis
Some of our key challenges for performance during the year were:
Accident and emergency (A&E)
Although City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust (CHSFT) delivered the 95%
standard for quarters one and two this year, performance for quarters three and four were
below the 95% meaning CHS did not achieve the 95% standard for 2015/16.
Despite not achieving the overall full year standard, performance at CHSFT was above the
same period last year. The CCG is working with CHSFT and its partners to further build on
these improvements.
Weekly surge meetings are taking place to address issues and additional schemes, such
as additional patient transport and spot purchasing of beds, have been funded as part of
winter resilience.
Northern Doctors Urgent Care (NDUC) continued to deliver almost 99% for the three
community urgent care centres. Due to this performance, the 95% standard was delivered
overall in the City which is encouraging. CHSFT is still working towards the delivery of a
partnership model which would see a consistent model across the four urgent care centres
as well as improved system wide governance.
Referral to treatment
The CCG remained above the 92% standard for incomplete pathways as at February
2016. Orthopaedics remained under the 92% standard as CHSFT continued to focus on
long waiters. CHSFT delivered orthopaedics in January 2016 as per the original recovery
plan and improvements have continued with the number of long waiters reducing month on
month. Foot and ankle remained the main area of pressure.
Gastroenterology continued to improve and, as at February 2016, the number of over 18
week waiters had reduced significantly due to the work carried out by South Tyneside NHS
Foundation Trust (STFT) as part of the sub contract with CHSFT. Performance improved
significantly in January 2016 and the specialty is now delivering the standard as expected.
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Respiratory medicine continued to be a pressure due to capacity issues linked to
consultant capacity. A locum was recruited to review patients and will continue to do so
after the new permanent consultant is in post in April 2016 to recover performance.
Ambulance response times (red incidents)
Performance continued to be below the standard for North East Ambulance Service NHS
Foundation Trust (NEAS) overall. Pressures continue around the national shortage of
trained paramedics and increased demand for services and commissioners collectively
continue to work with NEAS to implement recovery plans.
A regional quality review group had been formed to discuss the quality issues linked to the
deterioration in performance and identify appropriate actions to take forward. However, it
is likely that performance will not improve enough for this standard for 2015/16, which will
impact the CCG’s quality premium.
Healthcare acquired infections (HCAI)
C.difficile for the Sunderland community and CHSFT performance are both above the
trajectory using published data. Issues have been identified with the testing for c. difficile
and this has been raised with Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust (GHFT).
CHSFT has reported two MRSA cases and both cases were deemed to be hospital
acquired and avoidable following a review. Contract sanctions have been applied and an
action plan is being reviewed as part of the HCAI improvement group.
Cancer two week wait
The CCG remained above the 93% standard for two week waits overall in February 16 and
is expected to achieve the standard for 2015/16 after a challenging year. The CCG has
worked with partners to ensure that patients in Sunderland with exhibited breast symptoms
receive timely diagnosis and treatment after the termination of the breast service in
Sunderland. GHFT has provided additional capacity and has worked with CHSFT to
provide additional nursing and radiology capacity in the interim until a new One Stop Shop
Breast Assessment Service is mobilised in Grindon Lane Primary Care Centre. The
service is expected to go live early July 2016 and will provide a one stop shop for patients
with exhibited breast services and improve access for residents of Sunderland as well as
timely diagnosis and treatment.
Cancer 62 days
The CCG remained above the standard for 62 day cancer performance for the YTD as at
February 2016. Performance at Newcastle Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (NUTH) and
CHSFT are areas of pressure, particularly around complex patients and patients who are
transferred to NUTH from other providers. Urology is the main specialty experiencing
pressure due to volume and capacity, particularly for diagnostics. The CCG is working
with CHS on a number of initiatives to improve patient flow throughout the pathways.
IAPT - access to psychological therapies and moving to recovery
Year to date recovery remains slightly over the 50% target for February '16 at 50.8%,
which is very promising and now the challenge is to maintain this level of recovery to
achieve the year-end target. Access remains below expected levels, although above the
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national expectation and higher than the same period last year, performance remains
below the year to date phased locally set trajectory.
A&E diagnosis coding and time in A&E for mental health patients
In relation to diagnosis coding, CHS has implemented improvements following a data
quality exercise within the Trust and coding is now approximately 96%. NDUC is also in
the process of implementing a new process to improve their coding.
Regarding time spent in A&E for mental health patients, CHSFT is working with
Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation trust to review the reasons for the
breaches of the four hour wait target. The audit results are still being reviewed and will be
shared with the CCG.
MSK referrals into SIMS
The latest nationally published data for NHS e-referral as at December 2015 showed that
the proportion of referrals has increased since the mobilisation of the new service and is
now up to 49% however, this is still slightly behind trajectory. The service is working hard
to improve current performance; it is reducing waiting times and working with practices and
localities to understand any particular issues from primary care so they can be addressed.
Non-elective inpatients
Activity remained above trajectory through to February 2016. However, activity is now
starting to plateau and with the mobilisation of the recovery at home service (R@H) and
community integrated teams (CIT), it is anticipated that activity will begin to reduce. The
CCG will continue to monitor this closely into the early part of 2016/17.
Although the CCG did not achieve some targets detailed above, there are a number of
robust recovery plans in place to improve this and we will continue to work closely with our
providers of healthcare to ensure performance improves in 2016/17.

Financial targets and performance for the year
In accordance with NHS England planning guidance, the CCG is required to deliver a
surplus of at least 1% of available resources. A planned surplus of £18,620k was agreed
with NHS England during the year and the CCG’s successful management of financial
risks and robust financial management has ensured that the target surplus has been
delivered as planned. The planned surplus for 2015/16 included a cumulative brought
forward surplus of £19,120k with an in year planned deficit of £500k.
The CCG’s successful results are set out in the table below, with further detail included in
note 21 of the full annual accounts published alongside the annual report.
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Target
Delivery of 1% cumulative surplus on
total revenue allocation
Maintain running costs within the running
cost allocation
Maintain capital spending within capital
allocation
Ensure cash spending is within the cash
limit set

Outcome
Total cumulative surplus of £18,654k against a total
revenue resource allocation of £514,113k.
Surplus of £830k delivered on running cost budgets.
No capital resource provided to the CCG and no capital
spend in year.
Cash managed within available resources.

Target Met



N/A


Unlike commercial companies which make a profit or loss, CCGs are set resource
allocation limits within which they must contain net expenditure for the year. There are
separate resource allocation limits for revenue and capital expenditure, with revenue
expenditure limits further split between programme spend, delegated primary care spend
and running costs.

Performance measures
The full performance measures are shown in the tables below:
NHS Constitution
A&E four hour waits for the Sunderland health community

Ambulance handovers

Cancer waiting times – two week waits
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Cancer waiting times – 31 day waits

Cancer waiting times – 62 day waits

Same sex accommodation

Diagnosis test waiting times

Referral to treatment – 18 weeks

Outcomes framework
Sunderland CCG local quality indicators
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Healthcare acquired infections

Mental health

Better Care Fund
Delayed Transfers of Care

Dementia diagnosis rate

Activity
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Sustainable development
As an NHS organisation, and as a spender of public funds, we have an obligation to work
in a way that has a positive effect on the communities for which we commission and
procure healthcare services. Sustainability means spending public money well, the smart
and efficient use of natural resources and building healthy, resilient communities. By
making the most of social, environmental and economic assets, we can improve health
both in the immediate and long term, even in the context of rising cost of natural
resources.
We acknowledge this responsibility to our patients, local communities and the environment
by working hard to minimise our footprint.
As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute
towards the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS,
public health and social care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28%
reduction from a 2013 baseline by 2020. It is our aim to meet this target by reducing our
carbon emissions 0% by using as the baseline year.

Modelled carbon footprint
The majority of the environmental and social impacts are through the services we
commission. Therefore, the following information uses a scaled model based on work
performed by the Sustainable Development Unit (SDU) in 2014/15. More information
available here: http://www.sduhealth.org.uk/policy-strategy/reporting/nhs-carbonfootprint.aspx
Resulting in an estimated total carbon footprint of 122,303 tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent emissions (tCO₂e). The majority of this impact is from the services we
commission.
Category
Energy
Travel
Procurement
Commissioning

% CO2e
0.08%
0.03%
0.00%
99.89%
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Proportions of Carbon Footprint
Energy

0%

Travel
Procurement
Commissioning

100%

Carbon Footprint
CO2e baseline to 2020 with Climate Change targets
140.00

1990

1997

2004

2010

2015

2010

2015

120.00

100.00

kt CO2e

80.00

60.00

40.00

20.00

0.00

1990

1995

2000

2005

2020

2025

2030

2035

2040

2045

NHS Sunderland CCG

Modelled 1990 baseline

Modelled 2007 baseline

10% target from 2007

Trajectory to 2020

Modelled forecast

Climate Change Act Trajectory

34% target from 1990 baseline

50% target from 1990 baseline

64% target from 1990 baseline

Year

2050

80% target from 1990 baseline

Policies
In order to embed sustainability within our business, it is important to explain where
sustainability features in our process and procedures.
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Area
Commissioning (environmental)
Commissioning (social impact)
Suppliers’ impact
Travel

Is sustainability considered?
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

One of the ways in which we aim to embed sustainability is through the implementation
and use of its sustainable strategy and action plan which was approved by the governing
body. The strategy supports the CCG’s vision of Better Health for Sunderland and aims
to help achieve its key strategic objective to promote ‘self-care and sustainability’.
We are committed to embedding sustainability into our operations and encouraging key
partners and stakeholders to do the same. We recognise that good maintenance and
care of the environment contributes a great deal to the long term health of people, their
social wellbeing and economic prosperity.
We are supporting sustainable development in the local health economy by taking action
in three key areas:
• Commissioning for sustainability – ensuring that our commissioning processes
support environmental and social sustainability
•

Being a sustainable organisation – adopting policies and action plans as a CCG
that enhance the environmental and social sustainability of the organisation

•

Promoting sustainability amongst our GP member practices – promoting and
supporting action on sustainable development across our practices in Sunderland

By having a better focus on these key areas ourselves, we will help ensure there is a focus
on being sustainable on a social, environmental and financial basis for the ultimate benefit
of the residents of Sunderland.
Partnerships
As a commissioning and contracting organisation we need effective contract mechanisms
to deliver our ambitions for sustainable healthcare delivery. The NHS policy framework
already sets the scene for commissioners and providers to operate in a sustainable
manner. Crucially for us as a CCG, evidence of this commitment will need to be provided
in part through contracting mechanisms.
We have not currently established any strategic partnerships, other than the partnership
agreement in place with Sunderland City Council around the management of the Better
Care Fund described earlier in this report. For commissioned services, the sustainability
comparator for our providers is detailed on the following page:
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Organisation
Name
City Hospitals
Sunderland NHS
Foundation Trust
Northumberland,
Tyne and Wear
NHS Foundation
Trust
South Tyneside
NHS Foundation
Trust
Gateshead Health
NHS Foundation
Trust
North East
Ambulance Service
NHS Foundation
Trust
The Newcastle
Upon Tyne
Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust

On track
SDMP* for 34%
GCC
reduction

Healthy
SD
travel
Adaptation Reporting
plan
score

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Excellent

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

Poor

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Excellent

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Good

Yes

No

No

No

Yes

Minimum

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Good

*Sustainable development management plan

More information on these measures is available here: http://www.sduhealth.org.uk/policystrategy/reporting/sdmp-annual-reporting.aspx.

Performance
As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute
towards the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS,
public health and social care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28%
reduction from a 2013 baseline by 2020. It is our aim to meet this target by reducing our
carbon emissions 10% by 2015 using 2007 as the baseline year.
Here's how we have done:
Travel
We can improve local air quality and improve the health of our community by promoting
active travel – to our staff, through our providers and to the patients and public that use the
services we commission.
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Every action counts and we are a lean organisation trying to realise efficiencies across the
board for cost and carbon (CO2e) reductions. We support a culture for active travel to
improve staff wellbeing and reduce sickness.
Category
Business Travel

Mode

2014/15

2015/16

km

57,549

42,101

tCO2e

6

6

Performance
The CCG actively manages business travel and encourages staff to use technology for
meetings and to travel by public transport and use the CCG electric car whenever
possible. The CCG has also invested in six charging points for electric vehicles. Travel
miles and CO2 have reduced in line with greener ways of working.
Energy
The CCG has seen an increase in staffing numbers working at Pemberton House, in
addition to a number of staff involved with the implementation of the new out of hospital
ways of working being based temporarily in the same building too. The CCG has invested
in energy saving devices during the refurbishment of premises and actively encourages
staff to reduce energy consumption where ever possible. The CCG has a single site for its
HQ (Pemberton House) which has an energy usage rating of 85 - being 15 points better
than an typical building of its age and type.
Table: Energy usage for 2015/16

Resource

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

Use (kWh)

125,000

137,868

141,073

tCO2e

26.5

28.9

29.6

Use (kWh)

0

0

0

tCO2e

0

0

0

Use (kWh)

0

0

0

tCO2e

0

0

0

Use (kWh)

109,000

110,483

113,144

tCO2e

61.0

68.4

65.0

Total Energy CO2e

87.5

97.4

94.6

Total Energy Spend

£ 18,000

£ 19,600

£ 20,060

Gas
Oil
Coal
Electricity
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Carbon (tCO2e)

Carbon Emissions - Energy Use
150.0
100.0
50.0
0.0
2013/14

2014/15
Gas

Oil

Coal

2015/16

Electricity

Waste
Waste
(tonnes)

2013/14
4

2014/15
3

2015/16
6

tCO2e
(tonnes)

1
10

0
10

0
10

tCO2e
(tonnes)
tCO2e

0.21
42
10.3

0.21
38
9.3

0.21
42
10.3

Total Waste (tonnes)

55.6

51.3

58.2

% Recycled or Re-used

0.1

0.1

0.1

Total Waste tCO2e

11.5

9.5

10.5

Recycling/
reuse
Other
Landfill

Performance
Despite an increase in staffing, landfill waste has remained relatively constant due to an
increase in active recycling of waste. Please note ‘other’ relates to confidential waste.

Water
Water
Mains

m

3

tCO2e

Water & Sewage Spend

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

440

442

443

463

444

466

£

1,060

£

1,121

£

3,405

Performance
Despite an increase in staffing, use of water has remained relatively constant due to an
increased awareness of reducing water waste with staff.
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Reducing inequality
NHS Sunderland CCG complies with the Equality Act 2010 and the Public Sector Equality
Duty. We have demonstrated our commitment to taking equality, diversity and human
rights into account in everything we do, whether that is commissioning services, employing
people, developing policies, communicating, consulting or involving people in our work as
shown below.

Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2)
The EDS2 is a tool that has been designed by the NHS for the NHS to enable
organisations to analyse their equality performance with the assistance of local
stakeholders, prepare equality objectives and embed equality into mainstream
commissioning activities.
We have implemented the EDS2 framework and used the tool to support the
mainstreaming of equalities into all our core business functions and performance for the
community, patients, carers and staff. This has also been an opportunity to raise equality
in service commissioning and gain insight into the local population’s diverse health needs.
The CCG’s equality objectives for 2015/16 have been reviewed and the outcome used to
inform the development of our equality objectives for 2016/17. These have been approved
by the executive committee and an action plan developed to support delivery of these.

Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES)
In accordance with the Public Sector Equality Duty, the NHS Equality and Diversity
Council has agreed measures to ensure employees from black and ethnic minority (BME)
backgrounds have equal access to career opportunities and receive fair treatment in the
workplace.
One of these measures (alongside EDS2) is the Workforce Race Equality Standard
(WRES), which asks NHS organisations to demonstrate progress against workforce
equality by collecting and analysing their workforce data in relation to nine specific
indicators.
NHS England advised CCGs in July 2015 that they should have ‘due regard’ to the WRES
and were expected to apply the WRES metrics. The CCG has taken due regard to the
metrics contained in the WRES to help improve workplace experiences and representation
at all levels for black and minority ethnic staff.
The CCG is continuing to work with the relevant parties and human resource teams to
ascertain what data is held against each of the nine indicators contained with the WRES
and a report will be prepared early in the summer of 2016 detailing this.
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The CCG will continue to engage with NHS England as to how CCGs can effectively apply
the standard.

Equality impact assessment
Our equality impact assessment (EIA) toolkit and guidance, which covers all equality
groups offered protection under the Equality Act 2010 (race, disability, gender, age, sexual
orientation, religion/belief, marriage and civil partnership and gender re-assignment) and
other hard to reach groups, such as carers, has been refreshed for 2016.
Our EIA process ensures we consider the impact or effect, either positive or negative, of
our policies, procedures and functions on various sections of the population we serve. For
any negative impacts identified, steps are taken to deal with such issues as part of the
action plan set out in the tool and ensure equity of service delivery as well as monitoring
progress against any challenges identified.
The tool also now includes checks in relation the accessible information standard to aid
compliance with the standard when commissioning services. This ensures that
information is provided to all service users and patients in a way they can understand.
Staff have undertaken training on how to complete the toolkit and guides including
‘frequently asked questions’ have been developed to help support staff in completing the
EIAs.

Governance
The equality and diversity function is monitored by the CCG’s executive committee. The
committee ensures compliance with legislative, mandatory and regulatory requirements,
as well as ensuring delivery of our equality strategy and achievement of key equality and
diversity objectives. The committee receives regular assurance report, which included
relevant updates in relation to equality and diversity and human rights (EDHR).

Staff training
Equality and diversity training is a mandatory requirement for our staff with induction
training on EDHR being provided for new starters and mandatory refresher training carried
out every three years. This includes online training assessments as well as face to face
workshops as requested.
Staff involved in the recruitment process are also required to undertake recruitment and
selection training, which includes awareness of equality and diversity legislation as it
relates to the recruitment process.
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Engagement and partnership working
We work in partnership with local NHS trusts as well as local voluntary sector
organisations and community groups to identify the diverse needs of our local community
to help improve their health and healthcare wherever possible.
We seek the views of patients, carers and the public through individual feedback/input,
consultations, working with other organisations and community groups, attendance at
community events and engagement activity including patient surveys, focus groups and
Healthwatch.
As the local commissioner of health services, we seek to ensure that the services we buy
on behalf of our local population reflect their health needs. We appreciate that to deliver
this requires meaningful consultation and involvement of all our stakeholders. We aim to
ensure that comments and feedback from our local communities are captured and, where
possible, acted upon and give local people the opportunity to influence local health
services on their terms using a variety of methods such as completing surveys, attending
events, providing feedback either online, post, text or telephone. We invite people to be
involved as little or as much as they like, enabling them to help shape and influence the
way we commission our services.

Accessibility and communications
We ensure that our public buildings are accessible for people with a disability by ensuring
all buildings have had disability access audits.
We use everyday language solutions when an interpreter is required either by telephone or
face to face. Information for patients and the general public is available in other languages
or formats such as large print or braille and audio, upon request.

Accessible Information Standard (AIS)
The AIS advises organisations how they should ensure that disabled patients receive
information in formats they can understand and that they receive appropriate support to
help them to communicate.
From 1 April 2016, all organisations that provide NHS or publicly funded adult social care
must identify and record information and communication needs with service users at the
first interaction or registration with their service and as part of ongoing routine interaction
with the service by existing service users.
We have acknowledged this commitment and included the AIS in our revised equality
impact assessment toolkit, ensuring that the standard is considered and we are compliant
when equality impact assessing all new and existing services.
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Compliments and complaints
We welcome feedback, positive or negative, about people’s experience of local NHS
services as this helps us to improve services for patients.
Equal opportunities for staff
We can demonstrate fair and equitable recruitment, workforce engagement and
employment terms and conditions to ensure levels of pay and related terms and conditions
are fairly determined for all posts, with staff doing equal work, and work rated as of equal
value, being entitled to equal pay.
Two Tick Disability symbol
The CCG has successfully renewed its accreditation as a Two Tick Disability employer for
2016. The symbol, awarded by Jobcentre Plus, demonstrates our commitment to employ,
retain and develop the abilities of disabled staff.
As a Two Tick Disability Symbol employer we have displayed five commitments regarding
recruitment, training, retention, consultation and disability awareness:
• To interview all disabled applicants who meet the minimum criteria for a job
vacancy and to consider them on their abilities
•

To discuss with disabled employees, at any time but at least once a year, what both
parties can do to make sure disabled employees can develop and use their abilities

•

To make every effort when employees become disabled to make sure they stay in
employment

•

To take action to ensure that all employees develop the appropriate level of
disability awareness needed to make these commitments work

•

To review these commitments each year and assess what has been achieved, plan
ways to improve on them and let employees and Jobcentre Plus know about
progress and future plans

Leadership
David Gallagher, chief officer (and accountable officer) is the executive lead for equality
and diversity. David chairs the executive committee and is a member of the governing
body.

David Gallagher
Chief Officer (accountable officer)
24 May 2016
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Accountability report
Directors’ report
Details of members of the membership body and governing body
The CCG’s constitution sets out the terms by which we, through our appointed members,
elected GP executives and governing body, implement all statutory obligations including
the commissioning of secondary health care and other services for Sunderland. The
constitution was agreed and signed by all member practices in August 2012, updated in
November 2013 and again in January 2015 to reflect the CCG’s additional responsibilities
for primary medical care co-commissioning. The constitution contains the main
governance rules of the CCG and governing body.
Each member practice sits within one of five locality regeneration groups and has a lead
GP elected by the GPs of Sunderland (who is also a member of the executive committee)
as well as an assigned practice manager, practice nurse and a commissioning manager.
The locality teams also work in close partnership with the local authority and local
patients.
The CCG covers the whole of the city of Sunderland and details of our localities and
member practices can be found on the following pages:
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Coalfields Locality Practices
Hetton Group Practice

DH5 9EZ

Herrington Medical Centre

DH4 4LE

Kepier Medical Practice

DH4 5EQ

Houghton Medical Group

DH4 4DN

Grangewood Surgery

DH4 4RB

Westbourne Medical Group

DH4 4RW

Sunderland East Locality Practices
Deerness Park

SR2 8AD

Dr S M Bhate and Dr H El-Shakankery

SR1 2HJ

Villette Surgery

SR2 8AX

The New City Medical Group

SR1 2QB

Ashburn Medical Centre

SR2 8JG

Park Lane Practice

SR2 7BA

Southlands Medical Group

SR2 0RX

Conishead Medical Group

SR2 0RY

Eden Terrace Surgery

SR2 7PF

Nathan Jr

SR1 1XW

Sunderland North Locality Practices
Red House Medical Centre

SR5 5PS

Roker Family Practice

SR6 0HT

Fulwell Medical Centre

SR6 8DZ

St.Bede Medical Centre

SR6 0QQ

Drs Cloak, Choi and Milligan

SR5 2LT

Castletown Medical Centre

SR5 3EX

Dr Gelia and Dr Balaraman

SR6 0AB

Dr R Obonna

SR5 2LT

Dr Weatherhead and associates
Sunderland West Locality Practices

SR5 2LT

Wearside Medical Practice

SR4 7XF

Pallion Family Practice

SR4 7XF

Village Surgery

SR3 2AN

Millfield Medical Group

SR4 7AF

The Old Forge Surgery

SR4 6QE

The Broadway Medical Practice

SR3 4HG

Springwell Medical Group

SR3 4HG

Springwell House

SR3 1RN

Hylton Medical Group

SR4 7ZF

Colliery Medical Group

SR3 2AN

Happy House

SR3 4BY

Church View Medical Centre

SR3 2AW

South Hylton Surgery

SR4 0LS

Pennywell Medical Centre

SR4 9AS

Chester Surgery

SR4 7TU
Page 38 of 97

NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group annual report and accounts 2015/16

Drs Vakhara and Hedge

NE38 7NQ

Dr Stephenson and Partners

NE37 2PU

Dr Dixit’s Practice

NE38 7NQ

Concord Medical Practice

NE37 2PU

Encompass Health Care

NE38 7NQ

Victoria Medical Practice

NE38 7NQ

Intrahealth Barmston Medical Group

NE38 8JF

Rickleton Medical Centre

NE38 9EH

Harraton Surgery

NE38 9AB

Dr Thomas

NE37 2PU

Dr N J Bhatt and Dr H M Benn

NE37 2PU

Chair and chief officer (accountable officer)
The chair of the CCG during 2015/16 was Dr Ian Pattison who is a practicing GP
within Sunderland. Dr Pattison was re-elected in March 2014 to serve as an
executive GP and chair for a further four year term.
David Gallagher is the chief officer of the CCG a position which also includes the role
of accountable officer.

The committee structure of the CCG
The diagram on the following page shows the committee structure of the CCG:

CCG Member Practices

System Resilience and
Transformation Board

Governing Body

(chaired by Chief Officer)

(GP Chair)

Audit Committee
(chaired by Lay Member,
Audit)

Quality, Safety and Risk
Committee
(chaired by Lay Member, Patient
and Public Involvement)

Executive Committee
(chaired by Chief Officer)

Health and Wellbeing Board
(chaired by Leader of Sunderland
City Council)

Primary Care Commissioning
Committee
(chaired by Lay Member, Primary
Care)

Remuneration Committee
(chaired by Lay Member,
Audit)

Details of the governing body sub-committees, including membership, key responsibilities
and highlights from the year, can be found in the governance statement section of this
annual report.
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Membership body and governing body profiles
Membership body
The CCG has five localities, of which each practice is a member. These are described in
detail earlier in this report.

Governing body
The governing body is made up of the following members:
• Executive GP chair (elected)
• Executive GP vice chair (elected)
• Executive GP x4 (elected)
• Chief officer
• Chief finance officer
• Director of nursing, quality and safety
• Lay member, audit and non-clinical vice chair*
• Lay member, patient and public involvement
• Secondary care clinician
In addition to the above members, the following are regular non-voting attendees and
participants to the governing body meeting:
• Deputy chief officer
• Medical director
• Executive practice manager
• Head of corporate affairs
• Lay member for primary care commissioning
• Director of public health, Sunderland City Council
• Executive director of people, Sunderland City Council
*The lay member for audit and non-clinical vice chair also represents the CCG in her role
as governor on the council of governors for City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation
Trust.

Governing body profiles
Dr Ian Pattison, executive GP and clinical chair
Passionate about ensuring patients receive the best care available, Dr Pattison has been a
GP at the Southland Medical Centre in Ryhope since 2001. With previous commissioning
experience gained at Wearside Commissioning Group, Ian was elected to the CCG as
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chair in 2011. He is a member of the governing body, executive committee and
Sunderland health and wellbeing Board.
Mr David Gallagher, chief officer (accountable officer)
With previous experience of working with CCGs in Newcastle, Gateshead, County
Durham and Darlington, David has been involved with the NHS in both clinical and
strategic roles. He has lived locally all his life and has extensive management experience
including in hospitals and commissioning. He started his career in 1982 at Sunderland
Royal Infirmary and joined the CCG as chief officer in 2012.
Mr David Chandler, chief finance officer
David has over 20 years’ experience in NHS finance having worked in most sectors of the
NHS, including acute, community, mental health and commissioning organisations. He
began his career in the region at City Hospitals Sunderland in 1991 as a trainee
accountant. David joined the CCG in May 2013 as head of finance and became the acting
chief finance officer from April 2015. He was formally appointed to the role of chief finance
officer in August 2015.
Dr Geoff Stephenson, medical director (until 30 September 2015) (non-voting)
Originally from London, Dr Stephenson qualified from Newcastle Medical School in 1974
and decided to develop his career in the North East. He is the senior partner in a large GP
teaching practice in Washington where he has practiced since 1978. He has held many
senior posts within the NHS and was appointed medical director for the CCG in April 2013.
Dr Stephenson retired as medical director on 30 September 2015 and undertakes the role
of primary care advisor for the CCG.
Dr Claire Bradford, medical director (from 1 October 2015) (non-voting)
Originally from North London, Dr Bradford trained at Nottingham University and worked in
Nottingham and Plymouth prior to moving (and staying) in the North East in 1989. She
has worked in the NHS since 1984 and been a public health physician since 1994 working
in Newcastle Primary Care Trust, Health Protection Agency, North East Public Health
Observatory and NHS England. During her public health career, her achievements have
included leading teams to develop the English health profiles and the National Library for
Public Health.
Mrs Debbie Burnicle, deputy chief officer (non-voting)
Debbie has spent most of her career working in Sunderland, working across both health
and social services. She has worked in Sunderland City Council in planning and
commissioning social care services for the children and adults before becoming deputy
director of commissioning within NHS South of Tyne and Wear. Debbie later took on
responsibility for preparing the CCG to become a statutory clinical commissioning body
before taking up her current role.
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Mrs Ann Fox, director of nursing, quality and safety
As a registered nurse and with a career in the NHS spanning 30 years, Ann has always
been an advocate for improving the quality of patient care, their safety and overall
experience. She has been instrumental in developing new services and clinical pathways
in areas such as haematology and palliative care, in her role as nurse director for the North
of England Cancer Network. Prior to her current role, Ann was director of clinical care and
patient safety at the North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust.
Prof. Mike Bramble, secondary care clinician
Professor Mike Bramble is a part-time consultant gastroenterologist at the James Cook
University Hospital in Middleborough. His career spans 31 years and he has a range of
experience and has advised the government on areas relating to endoscopy. He retired in
June 2010 and returned to part-time clinical and academic work. He was appointed to the
governing body of the CCG in 2013.
Dr Jackie Gillespie, Coalfield locality executive GP lead
Dr Gillespie qualified at Glasgow University in 1989 and moved to the North East in 1992.
She has been a GP in Sunderland since 1997 and a partner at Millfield Medical Centre
since 2000. Having previously been involved with the prescribing team in Wearside
Commissioning Group, she has continued this interest and is now Prescribing Lead for
CCG and works closely with the medicines optimisation team at CCG.
Dr Gerry McBride, Sunderland East locality executive GP lead (until 31 August 2015)
Dr McBride has been a GP in Monkwearmouth for 27 years, having helped the practice to
develop and increase the range of services they offer to their practice population. Gerry
has previous experience in commissioning as a member and later chair of the Wearside
Commissioning Group. He has an interest in medical education and continuing
professional development for doctors. Dr McBride resigned from this role in August 2015.
Dr Fadi Khalil, Sunderland East interim locality executive GP lead (from 1
September 2015)
Dr Khalil has been a GP in Sunderland since 2010. He is a GP trainer and partner at The
Broadway Medical Practice. He moved to the North East after graduating from Egypt in
2002. He is part of the team leading on Sunderland’s multi-speciality community provider
Vanguard project and is currently the chair of the community integrated teams
implementation Group. Dr Khalil has also been involved locally in supporting collaboration
in primary care. He was appointed to the CCG’s governing body and executive committee
in 2015.
Dr Valerie Taylor, Sunderland North locality executive GP lead and clinical vice-chair
Dr Taylor has been a GP in Sunderland since July 2004. She was elected to the role of
executive GP in January 2013, becoming the clinical vice chair in July 2014. She was
involved in the CCG since early 2012 as clinical lead for musculoskeletal problems, and is
now the executive GP lead for this clinical programme. Her main role as executive GP is
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as a member of the out of hospital board, which leads on several development
programmes including community integrated teams, healthcare in care homes and the
intermediate care hub. Dr Taylor resigned from her role as executive GP as from 31
March 2016.
Dr Tracey Lucas, Sunderland West locality executive GP lead
Dr Lucas moved to the North East after graduating from Glasgow in 1999 to pursue a
career in paediatric medicine. She qualified as a GP in in 2005 and now works as a
partner and GP trainer in a teaching practice in Washington. She acted as the clinical lead
for Sunderland’s 111 Service before being elected to the post of executive GP in April
2014.
Dr Henry Choi, Washington locality executive GP lead
Dr Choi has been a partner at Southwick Health Centre since 1990 and the Sunderland
diabetes and cancer lead for the last ten years. He was elected to the post of executive GP
in 2011. His current role as clinical effectiveness lead is to support practices and the CCG
to deliver safe, effective, patient-focused care and services. Dr Choi resigned from his role
as executive GP with effect from 31 March 2016.
Mrs Aileen Sullivan, lay member (public and patient involvement)
After beginning her career as a nurse and midwife, Aileen moved into the education of
health professionals. She became a principal lecturer at Northumbria University in 1995
and then the director of practice placements. Aileen was actively involved in research
projects looking at the care older people received in nursing homes. After leaving
Northumbria she became a non-executive director for Sunderland Teaching Primary Care
Trust.
Mrs Pat Taylor, lay member (audit) and non-clinical vice chair
Pat has worked in the NHS for over 30 years and for the last 20 years as a director of
finance, holding posts across all types of NHS organisations. Latterly she was the director
of finance of both County Durham and Darlington Primary Care Trusts. Pat has previously
worked in North of Tyne, Yorkshire, Cambridgeshire, Durham and Darlington and has
covered a wide portfolio of roles including child health, estates, risk and corporate
governance and investment planning. Pat has a long-term interest in staff development
and was previously the North East chair of the Building Leadership Capacity Board.
Mr Chris Macklin, lay member (primary care commissioning) (non-voting)
Chris has worked in the NHS since 1975, becoming director of finance for NHS South of
Tyne and Wear in 2006. He is a governor of Gateshead College and chairs their audit
committee. In 2009 he was awarded a fellowship by Healthcare Financial Management
Association (HFMA) in recognition of his contribution to HFMA and the development of
NHS Accounting Standards. Chris retired from his post as chief finance officer at the end
of March 2015 and was appointed as the lay member for primary care commissioning with
effect from 1 September 2015.
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Mrs Gloria Middleton, executive practice manager (until 31 December 2015) (nonvoting)
Gloria has held various regional and national positions including Local Medical Committee
practice manager representative, national chair of the Primary Care Sector Institute of
Healthcare Management and chair of Sunderland practice managers’ group. She has been
a non-clinical partner at Westbourne Medical Group since 1992. Her role within the CCG
included working with the Sunderland Armed Forces Network (SAFN), learning disabilities,
patient and public involvement and communications. Gloria resigned from her role in
December 2015, she still works closely with the SAFN and the Sunderland People First,
self-advocacy group for people with learning disabilities.

Non-voting members of the governing body paid by other organisations
Mr Neil Revely, executive director of people
Neil has many years of local government experience, especially in social care and
housing. Much of his early career was spent in County Durham and he subsequently
became director in Sunderland in 2007. He is particularly known for his work on strategic
commissioning, supported housing and creating innovative community solutions for
independent living. Neil left the Council at the end of March 2016.
Mrs Gillian Gibson, director of public health
Gillian has lived in Sunderland most of her life and worked for the NHS since 1984 until
2013 when responsibility for public health transferred to local government. She is a
registered public health specialist and has been a consultant in public health in Sunderland
since 2011, taking responsibility for the integration of public health services. She became
acting director of public health in April 2015 and was appointed substantially in January
2016.

Register of interests
The CCG’s register of interests is available on our public website and can be found by
using the following link:
http://sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/about-us/how-we-work/register-of-interest

It is updated on a quarterly basis and reviewed by both the audit committee and governing
body.

Disclosure of serious incidents
The CCG has not had any serious incidents or serious information breaches during the
year.
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Principles for remedy
The CCG complaints policy and procedure has been developed and updated in line with
current legislation and statutory requirements and best practice. This includes adopting
the principles as outlined in the Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman’s principles
of good complaints handling, principles of good administration and principles of remedy.

Emergency preparedness, resilience and response
The CCG has a business continuity plan in place which is fully compliant with NHS
England’s Emergency Preparedness Framework 2015. The plan sets out the necessary
process for staff to follow in the event of a business continuity incident and includes key
contacts to support this. In addition, the CCG has completed business impact analysis for
all its key functions and used these to prioritise which activities would need to be continued
in the event of such an incident. The CCG is also a member of the Local Health
Resilience Forum, however, as a category 2 responder, we are not required to have a
major incident plan.

Statement of disclosure to auditors
Each individual who is, or was, a member of the governing body in the year covered by
this report confirmed that, as far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information
of which the CCG’s external auditors are unaware. Each member confirmed they have
taken all steps that they ought to have taken as a member in order to make themselves
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware
of that information.

David Gallagher
Chief Officer (accountable officer)
24 May 2016
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Statement of accountable officer’s responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each CCG shall have an
accountable officer and that officer shall be appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board
(NHS England). NHS England has appointed the chief officer to be the accountable officer
of NHS Sunderland CCG.
The responsibilities of an accountable officer, including responsibilities for the propriety
and regularity of the public finances for which the accountable officer is answerable, for
keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the CCG and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with
the requirements of the Accounts Direction) and for safeguarding the CCG’s assets (and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities), are set out in the CCG’s accountable officer appointment letter.
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed
each CCG to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the form and on the
basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are prepared on an
accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the clinical
commissioning group and of its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash
flows for the financial year.
In preparing the financial statements, the accountable officer is required to comply with
the requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health and in
particular to:
• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on
a consistent basis
•

Make judgments and estimates on a reasonable basis

•

State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Manual for
Accounts issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and disclose
and explain any material departures in the financial statements; and

•

Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set
out in my CCG accountable officer appointment letter.
As chief officer and accountable officer, I confirm that, as far as I am aware, there is no
relevant audit information of which the CCG’s auditors are unaware, and I have taken all
the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that information.
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As chief officer and accountable officer, I also confirm that the annual report and accounts
as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and that I take personal responsibility for
the annual report and accounts and the judgments required for determining that it is fair,
balanced and understandable.

David Gallagher
Chief Officer (accountable officer)
24 May 2016

Governance Statement by the chief officer as accountable officer
Introduction
The CCG was licensed from 1 April 2013 under provisions enacted in the Health and
Social Care Act 2012, which amended the National Health Service Act 2006.
The CCG is the statutory body responsible for planning, purchasing and monitoring the
delivery and quality of most of the local NHS healthcare and health services for the people
of Sunderland. We are made up of doctors, nurses, other health professionals with
management support and lay members.
The CCG is a membership organisation and all 51 GP practices in Sunderland are
members. We are a clinically led organisation and the membership elected six GPs, one of
which is the CCG chair, to lead the CCG on their behalf and work as part of the governing
body. We also have a number of other clinical professionals working with us on key areas
of improvement and development.
The governing body and its formal committees are responsible for setting the strategy for
health improvement for Sunderland and ensured the CCG delivered the improvements we
set out in our commissioning plans. By doing this, we worked very closely with other
partners across the city of Sunderland to improve the overall wellbeing of our local people.

Scope of responsibility
As accountable officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the CCG’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst
safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally responsible, in
accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public Money. I also
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acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in my clinical commissioning group
accountable officer appointment letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively,
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity.

The governance framework of NHS Sunderland CCG
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), at paragraph 14L (2) (b) states:
‘The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it complies with such generally accepted
principles of good governance as are relevant to it.’
The CCG’s constitution sets out the terms by which the CCG, through its appointed
members, elected GP executives and governing body, implements all statutory obligations
including the commissioning of secondary health care and other services in Sunderland.
The constitution contains the main governance rules of the CCG and governing body.
The constitution was agreed and signed by all member practices in August 2012 as part of
the CCG authorisation process and updated in November 2013. A further amendment
was made in January 2015 to reflect the changes in relation to additional primary medical
care commissioning responsibilities the CCG undertook from 1 April 2015.
The CCG continues to take a locality approach across Sunderland and each member
practice is in one of five localities (Coalfields, Sunderland East, Sunderland North,
Sunderland West and Washington).
Each of the localities has a lead GP who is an elected executive and a member of the
governing body and executive committee as well as an assigned practice manager and
practice nurse. The locality teams also work in close partnership with the local authority
and local patients.
The CCG has met regularly with all of its member practices as part of the ‘time in time out’
clinical educational sessions which are held every other month. We use this mechanism to
help us communicate with all our members and keep them up to date on key developments
around the work of the CCG and to obtain their views and feedback on key issues,
improvements and future developments.
We will hold our annual general meeting on 26 July 2016 to give us the opportunity to
share our key achievements during the year as well as highlight what we will be focusing
on as our priorities for the coming year. We will also give an overview of the CCG’s
financial performance to demonstrate we have met our statutory duties in relation to these.
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We use our governance framework to lead and manage the achievement of our vision
for ‘Better Health for Sunderland’. We also use governance to lead and manage through
our core values (and the public sector values of accountability, probity and openness) and
our systems (such as governance structures and risk management systems). Details of
our strategic objectives and core values can be found in the performance report section of
CCG’s annual report.
We use governance as the system of control, accountability and decision-making at the
highest level of the organisation. The CCG governance framework comprises of the
systems and processes, and the culture and values, by which the CCG is directed and
controlled. It enables us to monitor the achievement of our strategic objectives and to
consider whether those objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost-effective
services for the residents of Sunderland in delivering our vision.
The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to
manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies,
aims and objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process
designed to:
•

Identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of policies, aims and objectives

•

Evaluate the likelihood of those risks materialising and the impact should they
materialise, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically

The governance framework has been in place in the CCG for the whole of the year ending
31 March 2016 and up to the date of the approval of the statement of accounts.
To ensure effective governance arrangements are in place within the CCG, the governing
body and its sub-committees operate in such a way as to ensure it discharges its functions
appropriately and all of the functions are managed effectively. The governing body and
committee agendas were structured to ensure key risks and issues were addressed and
ensure delivery of corporate objectives.
The governing body has an agreed assurance framework in place (described in more
detail in the internal control framework section of this statement) which is supported by
clear risk management processes to place for identifying, analysing, evaluating, controlling,
monitoring and communicating risk. The quality, safety and risk committee oversees the
risk management function on behalf of the governing body.
The governing body used their assurance framework to ensure delivery of the corporate
objectives and have received regular updates on progress for assurance. The audit
committee also supported this work and undertook regular reviews of the framework and
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process associated with it to ensure it remained robust throughout the year. The governing
body and committee agendas were structured to ensure key risks and issues were
addressed and ensure delivery of corporate objectives.
In 2015/16, the governing body met on eight occasions, six of which were in public. The
governing body also held five development sessions focusing on the effectiveness of the
governing body, both as individual members and as a board, also to review specific topics
in more detail, such as the Better Care Fund, our dementia strategy, conflicts of interest,
co-commissioning or primary care services and our plans and priorities for the coming
year.
The governing body is made up of the following members:
• Executive GP chair (elected)
• Executive GP vice chair (elected)
• Executive GP x 4 (elected)
• Chief officer
• Chief finance officer
• Director of nursing, quality and safety
• Lay member, audit and non-clinical vice chair
• Lay member, patient and public involvement
• Secondary care clinician
In addition, the following are regular non-voting attendees and participants to the
governing body meeting:
• Deputy chief officer
• Medical director
• Executive practice manager
• Head of corporate affairs
• Lay member, primary care commissioning (from 1 September 2015)
• Director of public health, Sunderland City Council
• Executive director of people, Sunderland City Council
The CCG governing body’s committee structure reflects guidance and best practice and
includes an executive committee, audit committee, quality, safety and risk committee,
primary care commissioning committee and a remuneration committee. Terms of
reference have been agreed for all these committees to outline their key areas of
responsibility and also their accountability to the governing body. These terms of reference
are reviewed on a regular basis to ensure they remain relevant and reflect the committee’s
role and responsibilities.
Agendas are structured to deal with strategic, performance, quality, assurance, risk and
governance issues, as well as an opportunity for a patient story at the beginning of each of
the public governing body meetings. These arrangements meet the requirements of best
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practice guidance in respect of risk management and ensure that a robust assurance
framework is in place and consistently reviewed. They also reflect the public service
values of accountability, probity and openness and specify, as chief officer, my
responsibility for ensuring these values are met within the CCG.
The chart below shows the governance structure of the CCG:

CCG Member Practices

Audit Committee
(chaired by Lay
Member, Audit

Quality, Safety and Risk
Committee
(chaired by Lay Member,
Patient and Public Involvement

QIPP Reform Group
(chaired by Head
of Finance)

Governance and Corporate
Affairs
(Head of Corporate
Affairs)

Health and Wellbeing
Board
(chaired by Leader,
Sunderland City Council)

Governing Body
(GP Chair)

System Resilience and
Transformation Board
(chaired by Chief Officer)

Executive Committee
(chaired by Chief Officer)

Chief Officer

Quality and Safety
(Director of Nursing, Quality
and Safety)

Commissioning,
Planning and
Reform
(Deputy Chief Officer)

Primary Care Commissioning
Committee
(chaired by Lay Member, Primary
Care

Remuneration Committee
(chaired by Lay Member,
Audit)

Locality Groups x5

Contracting, Performance and
Business Intelligence
(Head of Contracting,
Performance and Business
Intelligence)

Medicines Optimisation and
Clinical Effectiveness
(Medical Director)

Financial
Management and
Control
(Chief Finance
Officer)

Committees of the CCG governing body
Executive committee
The executive committee is a management committee to support the CCG, its governing
body and myself, as chief officer, in the discharge of the CCG’s functions.
The committee assists the governing body in its duties to promote a comprehensive health
service, reduce inequalities and promote innovation. The remit of the committee includes
contributing to the development and implementation of strategy, monitoring and delivery of
statutory duties, operational, financial, contractual and clinical performance as well as
ensuring the coordination and monitoring of risks and internal controls. It has authority to
make decisions as set out within its terms of reference and the CCG’s scheme of
reservation and delegation.
Membership of the committee includes:
• CCG chief officer (chair)
• Chief finance officer
• GP chair
• Five elected GPs (locality lead roles)
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•
•
•

Executive practice manager (localities)
Executive practice nurse (localities)
Director of nursing, quality and safety

The following attend the committee on a regular basis but do not have a voting right,
reflecting their independence:
• Medical director
• Deputy chief officer
• Director of public health, Sunderland City Council
• Head of corporate affairs

Highlights from the committee
The committee has continued to meet on a monthly basis throughout 2015/16 to discuss
progress and development of the CCG’s commissioning agenda and make decisions
relevant to this as appropriate and required. The committee has considered a number of
strategies, project ideas, business cases, procurement proposals and service reforms.
The impact on improving outcomes for patients was the main priority as well as ensuring
any financial implications were within the CCG’s financial budgets.
The committee has also received regular reports on finance and performance issues,
healthcare acquired infections, key issues and risks, public health developments,
complaints, freedom of information requests and serious incidents, as well as monitoring
progress against NHS England’s assurance framework for CCGs on behalf of the
governing body.
Some of the key items considered by the committee include:
• Two year operational plans 2015/16-2016/17
• Continuing health care packages
• Financial reports
• Local incentive scheme 2015/16
• Podiatry and adult hearing any qualified provider specifications
• Innovation funding for localities
• Medicines optimisation
• Quality premium proposals for 2015/16
• GP career start
• Commissioning support services
• School nursing services
• Vanguard programmes (community integrated teams and recovery at home)
• Impact of special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) reforms
• Children and adolescent mental health services
• Home oxygen assessment service
• Transforming care
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The committee has also approved a number of policies and strategies for submission to
the governing body including:
• commissioning plans (operational 2 year and strategic 5 year plans)
• strategy for general practice
• updated Business continuity plan
• updated information governance strategy
• communications strategy
• sustainability strategy
In addition to the formal monthly meetings, a number of development sessions were held
during the year to enable the committee to focus on areas of development and key issues
to provide additional assurance that these areas were being reviewed in more detail. The
sessions were well attended by the members and covered topics such as:
• development of the local incentive scheme
• planning and priorities (including value for money)
• quality premium and outcome measures
• ensuring delivery of the CCG’s strategic and operational performance targets
There were a number of key challenges faced by the committee including:
• Winter pressures, including A&E attendances
• Urgent care centres mobilisation
• Continuing healthcare retrospective claims
• Performance of providers in relation to healthcare acquired infections
• Ambulance waiting times

Audit committee
The audit committee’s terms of reference set out the membership, remit, responsibilities
and reporting arrangements of the committee which are in accordance with the CCG’s
constitution.
The committee provided the governing body with assurance and an independent and
objective view on their finance and governance systems and process (including risk
management), financial information and compliance with laws, guidance, and regulations
governing the NHS in so far as they relate to finance and governance. The committee is a
non-executive committee of the governing body. It has no executive powers, other than
those specifically delegated to it and as set out in the terms of reference.
The committee, through its terms of reference, has paid due regard to the guidance
contained within the NHS Audit Committee Handbook, NHS Codes of Conduct and
Accountability and the Higgs Report.
Membership of the committee consists of:
• Lay member, audit and governance (chair)
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•
•

Lay member, patient and public involvement
Independent audit committee member

Regular attendees to the committee include:
• Chief finance officer
• Partner, Mazars (external audit)
• Senior manager, Mazars (external audit)
• Head of internal audit
• Internal audit manager
• Head of finance
• Head of corporate affairs
• Counter fraud specialist
The main work areas of the committee are:
• Assurance framework, governance, risk management and control
• Internal audit
• External audit
• Counter fraud
• Other assurance functions
• Management processes
• Financial performance and reporting (including QIPP)
• Service auditor reporting for third party assurances
• Conflicts of interest

Highlights from the committee
The committee has met five times during the year and its main role has been to review the
internal systems and processes and to provide assurance to the governing body that these
are fit for purpose. The committee is helped in this by the internal and external audit
teams, together with the counter fraud team.
During the year the committee has:
•

Achieved 100% attendance by the 3 core members of the committee during the
year

•

Successfully established an auditor panel to oversee the appointment of the CCG’s
external auditors. This process has been formally handed down to CCGs following
the dis-establishment of the Audit Commission who previously carried out this role
on behalf of all CCGs.

•

Appointed a third, independent member of the committee. This role has been in
place on an interim basis since 2013/14, however following an evaluation it was
deemed to be necessary for the CCG to ensure consistent and robust challenge
within the committee
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•

Overseen several governance submissions to NHS England in connection with the
CCG’s delegated responsibilities for commissioning primary medical services and
the robustness of the CCG’s financial control environment

•

Received an unqualified opinion on the financial statements included in the annual
report for the 2014/15 financial year

•

Held informal meetings with the internal auditor, the counter fraud lead and the
external auditors to ensure any issues of concern were addressed

In addition to the committee’s achievements, the audit chair has attended all NHS England
audit chair briefings and has been an active member of a North East Audit Chair group
that includes all NHS organisations.
The key challenges faced by the committee in 2015/16 have been:
•

Managing declarations of interest - the CCG has participated in several NHS
England events focussing on this issue and has shared best practice with other
CCGs in respect of standing information provided to all chairs of the CCG’s
committees

•

Issues arising from service auditor reports for the North of England Commissioning
Support (NECS). The CCG’s chief finance officer and audit chair have been to
NECS briefings and the reports have been discussed at the committee

Quality, safety and risk committee
The quality, safety and risk committee (QSRC) is responsible for ensuring the appropriate
governance systems and processes are in place to commission, monitor and ensure the
delivery of high quality, safe patient care in commissioned services and to facilitate,
monitor and ensure quality improvement in general medical practice by working with NHS
England.
To achieve this, the committee seeks to promote a culture of continuous improvement and
innovation with respect to safety of services, clinical effectiveness and patient experience.
It also aims to secure public involvement and to provide assurance to the governing body
about the quality, safety and risks of the services being commissioned and the overall risks
to the organisation’s strategic and operational plans.
The QSRC also provides oversight and scrutiny of arrangements for supporting NHS
England in relation to securing continuous improvement in the quality of primary medical
services through the planning process and future primary care commissioning
arrangements.
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Membership of the committee consists of:
• Lay member, patient and public involvement (chair)
• Director of nursing, quality and safety (vice chair)
• Chief officer
• Medical director
• Secondary care clinician
• GP medicines optimisation lead
• GP clinical effectiveness lead
• GPs x 2 (1 yet to be appointed)
• Head of quality and patient safety
• Head of medicines optimisation
• Head of safeguarding
• Head of corporate affairs
• Head/deputy head of contracting, performance and business intelligence
• Director of public health
• Clinical quality officer
• Clinical quality officer (care homes)
• Patient experience officer

Highlights from the committee
The committee has met on a monthly basis throughout the year and has regular reporting
mechanisms for its key roles and responsibilities. It has received regular assurance
reports on the following areas as specified in its terms of reference:
• Patient experience, including patient and public involvement
• Patient safety, including safeguarding, infection control and pressure ulcer
management
• Quality in commissioned services, including performance and contractual issues
that impact on quality including, CQUIN performance, continuing healthcare, quality
in care homes, transforming care, complaints and serious incidents
• Clinical effectiveness, including medicines optimisation
• Governance, including risk register management and CCG assurance framework
The committee monitors progress of the above areas through the CCG’s live quality
strategy and robust monitoring of the quality action plan. The plan includes all the key
national recommendations in relation to quality and received significant assurance
following a review by Internal Audit.
The reports/updates received by the committee also cover key issues and any quality or
patient safety issues arising as a result, as well as identifying any concerns relating to
patient experience. The committee receives a detailed integrated quality report, including
information such as serious incidents, complaints and the friends and family test for key
providers, to seek assurance that improvements are being made wherever possible.
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Some key examples of the outcomes from this work are the development of a programme
of clinical assurance visits with providers, a detailed mortality review with City Hospitals
Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust - which led to a rating of significant assurance - and the
relaunch of the safeguard incident reporting and management system across general
practice which has led to increased reporting of incidents and helped improve the quality
and safety of services for patients.
The committee also seeks assurance on mitigating actions to address any risks and issues
highlight from the reports to ensure these are captured on the corporate risk register. An
action log is developed and updated after each formal meeting, identifying an appropriate
lead and timescale to ensure any necessary actions are taken as required by the
committee. A covering highlight report and the confirmed minutes from each meeting are
submitted to the governing body to provide assurance on the delegated functions the
committee manages in its behalf.
The committee identified some particular challenges in areas that required a more detailed
focus to ensure work was undertaken to implement specific requirements, address areas
of concern relating to quality and patient safety issues and provide additional assurance on
work undertaken to mitigate the risks associated with this.
These topics have included:
• Safeguarding (children and adults)
• Risk register process review
• Complaints within commissioned services
• Medicines optimisation
• Patient and public involvement
• Quality in care homes
• Incident reporting within primary care
• Some areas of under- performance at City Hospitals Sunderland
There has been a particular challenge in relation to children’s safeguarding due to the
unprecedented levels of activity during the year and the Ofsted report for children’s
services within Sunderland City Council. This will be covered in more detail in the
safeguarding annual report due for publication later in the year. In addition, we have also
seen the impact of the Care Act 2014 on adults safeguarding which will also be covered in
the safeguarding annual report.

Primary care commissioning committee
NHS England delegated authority to the CCG to exercise the primary medical care
commissioning functions set out in schedule 2 in accordance with section 13Z of the NHS
Act with effect from 1 April 2015.
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To enable the CCG to undertake these delegated functions, a primary care commissioning
committee was established in accordance with statutory provisions to enable the members
to make collective decisions on the review, planning and procurement of primary medical
care services in Sunderland, under delegated authority from NHS England.
Membership of the committee comprises of the following members:
• Lay member, primary care commissioning (chair)
• Lay member, patient and public involvement (vice chair)
• Chief officer
• Chief finance officer
• Executive GP
• Primary care advisor (GP)
• Deputy chief officer
The following are invited to attend the committee to provide additional expertise and to
support alignment in decision-making across the local health and social care system in
Sunderland, but do not have a voting right reflecting their independence:
• Sunderland City Council representative
• Local Healthwatch representative
• NHS England representative
• Head of corporate affairs
The main areas of work of the committee include:
• Planning of primary care medical services
• Financial management
• Management of GMS, PMS and APMS contracts
• Design and management of enhanced services
• Design of local incentive schemes
• Decisions on whether to establish new GP practices in an area
• Approving practice mergers
• Reviews of primary medical care services in Sunderland

Highlights from the committee
The committee has met eight times during the year, and its main role has been to establish
a robust handover process from NHS England to ensure continued effective management
of the primary medical care commissioning function. This included reviewing the existing
systems and processes and to provide assurance to the governing body that these were fit
for purpose.
In order to strengthen the non-clinical membership of the committee, the CCG appointed a
further lay member with a specific role around primary care commissioning to ensure the
CCG carried out the statutory duties associated with these functions effectively. These
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duties include the management of conflicts of interest in primary care commissioning,
promoting the NHS Constitution, improving quality of primary medical care services,
reducing inequalities, promoting patient choice and patient and public involvement.
During the year the committee has:
• Reviewed and agreed its terms of reference
• Developed a strategy for general practice in partnership with general practice
• Recommended to the executive committee a local incentive scheme for
practices
• Provided assurance to the governing body on the primary care commissioning
financial position
• Reviewed and agreed a reprocurement strategy for three APMS contracts in
Washington and Pennywell localities
• Recommended the adoption of a five year strategic financial plan to the
executive committee
The key challenges faced by the committee in 2015/16 have been:
• Managing conflicts for interest
• APMS procurement
• Care Quality Commission inspection outcomes for GP practices
• GP workforce development
• Delegation authority in relation to financial management

Remuneration committee
The remuneration committee is accountable to the governing body and makes
recommendations to the governing body on the appropriate remuneration and terms of
service for the CCG including:
•
•
•

All aspects of salary (including any performance-related elements/bonuses)
Provisions for other benefits, including pensions and cars
Arrangements for termination of employment and other contractual terms

It determines the remuneration, fees and other allowances for employees and for people
who provide services to the CCG and would determine allowances under any pension
scheme should the CCG establish an alternative to the NHS pension scheme.
Membership of the committee consists of the following:
• Lay member for audit (chair)
• Lay member for patient and public involvement
• CCG chair
Regular attendees to the committee are the chief officer, a senior human resources
advisor and the head of corporate affairs.
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The committee has met twice during the year and made recommendations to the
governing body on the remuneration and terms and condition of service for the following:
• Very senior managers
• Locality practice managers
Joint committee arrangements
The CCG has joint and collaborative arrangements in place to make commissioning
decisions through delegation arrangements. These are as follows:
• Sunderland City Council health and wellbeing board (on which the CCG has three
voting seats)
•

Joint health and social care integration board with Sunderland City Council to
manage the better care fund set up from April 2016

•

Sunderland City Council (section 75) agreement in place for joint commissioning
arrangements for the better care fund

•

Collaborative arrangements with the other North East and Cumbria CCGs with
regard to commissioning arrangements for contracts with NHS healthcare providers
across the North East and Cumbria

•

Joint arrangements with the North and South of Tyne CCGs to determine
commissioning for health gain policies and to review and approve individual funding
requests, including conducting an appeals process

•

Joint arrangements with the North East CCGs to advise upon and make
recommendations to CCGs on high cost cancer drugs and high cost treatments

•

Joint arrangements with the North East CCGs to provide a partnership forum to
work together with trade union and professional organisation representatives to
discuss issues relating to employment matters affecting their employees

The groups identified above have an agreed governance structure in place with specific
roles, responsibilities and accountabilities or are covered by individual CCGs' governance
arrangements where appropriate and agreed. Any investments and decisions made by
these groups are formally documented and reviewed regularly as part of the CCG
contracting and performance arrangements.
In addition, close working relationships have been established with partner organisations
in the local health community. Organisational arrangements are in place for these
partnership arrangements including provider trusts, local authorities and other stakeholder
and partner organisations.
A key achievement during the year has been to continue working in partnership with
Sunderland City Council (the council) on the better care fund (BCF) through the health and
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social care integration board. The BCF combines a resource of £150m between health and
social care to enable the changes needed to improve services whilst making maximum
use of the combined resources. Robust governance arrangements are in place around the
BCF and it demonstrates the strength of the links that we have with the council.
In addition, the CCG and council were successful in their application for national vanguard
funding as part of the government’s commitment set out in their five year forward view
programme to transform the delivery of care.
The funding was used for the development of community integrated teams, the recovery at
home service and enhanced primary care. The CCG and council have worked closely with
a number of provider organisations to develop these transformational programmes and
ensure services are wrapped around the patient to deliver their care in a more joined-up
way.
By working in partnership, this has developed better ways of working between
organisations to avoid unnecessary delays in delivering care to patients. Robust and
transparent governance arrangements have been put in place around the vanguard
programmes and a provider board established to monitor delivery against the required
objectives and timescales. The provider board is accountable to the system resilience and
transformation board which includes senior representatives from the CCG, council and
providers.
The CCG has also continued to maintain close links with NHS England, with quarterly
assurance meetings being held to consider performance issues and priorities across all the
CCG activities. A particular focus has been maintained on the development of transparent
and robust governance processes in relation to the delegated responsibilities around
primary medical care commissioning.
The latest assurance ratings from NHS England has rated the CCG as ‘good’ in the four
domains of planning, performance, financial management and delegated functions and
‘outstanding’ in the well-led organisation domain.

Assessment of the governing body effectiveness
As part of our commitment to continuous improvement, we had begun to review of our
constitution to ensure it remains fit for purpose. However, due to the recent announcement
by NHS England of potential changes to the guidance around managing conflicts of
interests, this will now be completed early in the new financial year.
The CCG’s governance framework is reviewed by NHS England as part of the CCG
assurance framework requirements. During the year, the CCG has undertaken a selfassessment of its governance processes as part of the framework put in place by
Cumbria, Northumberland and Tyne and Wear area team (the area team) of NHS England.
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The area team was assured the CCG governance framework was robust and did not raise
any issues of concern.
A key piece of work was undertaken in relation to managing conflicts of interest following
the delegation of primary medical care commissioning. Following the publication of
national guidance in relation to managing conflicts of interest, we held two in-depth
governing body development sessions, facilitated by a legal expert, to ensure the CCG’s
governance structure and reporting arrangements around conflicts of interests were
robust. A task and finish group was established to continue this work and its main outputs
were:
• Clearer procedures to record conflicts of interest, both at the beginning of meetings
and again at individual items where necessary
• The production of a checklist for chairs of meetings to help them manage conflicts
in each of the committee and governing body meetings. NHS England and the
HFMA have since shared this checklist with other CCGs nationally as an example of
best practice.
• Inclusion of all staff on the register of interests and regular review of all declarations
to ensure the register remains as up to date as possible

Committee and governing body attendance record 2015/16
Member

Role

Mrs Aileen
Sullivan*

Lay member,
patient and
public
involvement

Mrs Pat
Taylor*

Lay member,
audit and
governing
body nonclinical vice
chair
Lay member,
primary care

Mr Chris
Macklin
(from 1
September
2015)
Mr Neil
Weddle

Prof Mike
Bramble*
Dr Ian
Pattison*

Dr Henry
Choi*
Dr Jackie

Independent
audit
committee
member
Secondary
care clinician
Executive
GP and
governing
body clinical
chair
Executive
GP
Executive

Governing
body

Executive
Committee

Audit
Committee

Quality, Safety
and Risk
Committee

Primary Care
Commissioning
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

7/7

5/5

12/12
(chair)

8/8
(chair until end
of September
2015)

2/2

6/7

5/5
(chair)

2/2
(chair)

4/4
(chair from
October 2015)

5/5

7/7

10/12

5/7
(chair)

7/12

6/7
6/7

10/12
10/12

6/8

2/2

6/12
8/12
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Gillespie*
Dr Tracey
Lucas*
Dr Valerie
Taylor*
Dr Gerry
McBride*
(until 31
August
2015)
Dr Fadi
Khalil*
(from 1
October
2015)
Mr David
Gallagher*

GP
Executive
GP
Executive
GP

Mrs Debbie
Burnicle
Mrs Ann
Fox*

Mr David
Chandler*
Dr Geoff
Stephenson
(until 30
September
2015)
Dr Geoff
Stephenson
(from 1
October
2015)
Dr Claire
Bradford
(from 1
October
2015)
Mrs Gloria
Middleton
(until 31
December
2015)
Mrs Florence
Gunn
Mr Eric
Harrison
(from 1
January
2016)
Mrs Gillian
Gibson

Mr Neil
Revely

2/7

10/12

5/7

12/12

1/2

5/5

2/5

6/6

6/7

11/12
(chair)

Deputy chief
officer
Director of
nursing,
quality and
safety
Chief finance
officer

7/7

11/12

4/7

8/12

7/7

11/12

Medical
director

3/3

3/6

Executive
GP

Interim
Executive
GP

5/8

Chief officer
4/12

Executive
practice
manager

Strategic
practice
nurse
Interim
executive
practice
manager
Director of
public
health,
Sunderland
City Council
Executive
director of
people,
Sunderland
City Council

2/2

7/8

9/12

5/5

8/8

0/6

Primary care
advisor

Medical
director

7/8

6/8

3/4

6/6

0/7

6/8

6/6

11/12

1/2

1/3

6/7

10/12

5/7

8/12

5/8
*voting right on the governing body
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The effectiveness of the governing body has also been assessed by its members using a
self- assessment questionnaire based on the principles outlined in the relevant corporate
governance guidance. This has enabled the governing body to undertake a detailed
review of their effectiveness.
The questionnaire focused on leadership, effectiveness, accountability, remuneration and
relationships with stakeholders. Each section contained a number of questions designed
to enable governing body members to undertake a detailed self-assessment of their
effectiveness as both individuals and members of the governing body.
Some key assurances from the questionnaire were:
• Clear roles and responsibilities for members, with a clear balance of skills,
knowledge and experience
•

Effective leadership of the chair and clear division of responsibilities between the
chief officer and the chair

•

The governing body sub-committees are effective in discharging their delegated
duties

•

Lay members provide constructive challenge and help develop strategy proposals

•

Members are presented with a balanced and understandable assessment of the
CCG’s position and prospects

•

Information received by the governing body is accessible but comprehensive
enough to provide assurance

The areas of focus going forward will be to ensure all executive GPs have clear objectives
and mechanisms in place for annual appraisal and ensuring all members provide sufficient
time to discharge their responsibilities effectively.
The outcome of the self-assessment will be used at a future development session to focus
on these areas in the coming year.
Having reviewed the effectiveness of the governing body’s governance framework and
associated guidance, I consider that the organisation has followed and applied the
principles and standards of best practice.

The CCG risk management framework
Effective risk management is an integral part of the work of the CCG in delivering against
its corporate objectives and strategic priorities in the stewardship of public funds. The
governing body has a responsibility to maintain a strategic view of the organisation’s risk
appetite, as set out in the CCG’s risk management framework, and to set boundaries to
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guide staff on the limits of risk they are able to accept in the pursuit of achieving its
organisational objectives.
Risk management is embedded in the activity of the CCG through:
• The risk management framework and its supporting policies and procedures
• The committee structure described earlier in this statement
• The management processes (e.g. used a risk-based approach to help prioritise
planning and work programmes)
• The governing body assurance framework
• Risk management skills training, including risk assessments of various types
and the mandatory and statutory training programme for all staff
• Raising awareness of a counter fraud culture
The CCG risk management framework takes into account current guidance on risk
management as well as established best practice. The framework sets out the CCG’s
approach to risk and the management of risk in the fulfillment of its overall objective to
commission high quality and safe services. In addition, the adoption and embedding of an
effective risk management framework and processes helps to ensure that the reputation of
the CCG is maintained and enhanced, and its resources are used effectively to reform
services through innovation, large-scale prevention, improved quality and greater
productivity.
The framework provides guidance for the systematic and effective management of risk.
Key elements of the framework include:
•

Clear statements on the responsibilities of the governing body and its sub
committees as well as individual accountability for delivery of the framework

•

Clear principles, aims and objectives of the risk management process

•

Clear processes for the management of risk in commissioned services,
partnership working and the delivery of the quality, innovation, productivity and
prevention programme

•

A clearly defined process for assessing and managing risks, including
implementation and dissemination of the framework to all staff

•

Details of the approach to be undertaken to assess and report risks, including
incident reporting, serious incidents and safeguarding

•

Confirmation of the arrangements for reporting of and managing risks through
the risk register process

•

Arrangements for monitoring and review of the framework

The overall risk management approach ensures that the framework is coordinated across
the whole organisation and progress is reported effectively to the governing body, quality,
safety and risk committee and audit committee.
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Following a review of the risk management framework at the end of 2014/15, the CCG
identified some further improvements to ensure the risk management framework and
processes in place continued to be robust. As a result, a revised risk management
framework was implemented from April 2015, which included a revised risk matrix to
ensure risks were being assessed and scored more appropriately in line with the CCG’s
agreed risk appetite (described in more detail below).
The risk management framework is embedded into the work of CCG in a number of ways.
We have a robust incident reporting system and staff are actively encouraged to report
incidents to help identify risks and we also have a clear policy and process in place for
staff to raise any concerns in relation to potential fraud risks. The planning and reform
processes also include a risk management element to ensure risks are being identified
and mitigated as far as possible, with each of the programme boards having a
responsibility to escalate risks through to the corporate risk register process as
appropriate.
The equality impact assessment process (EIA) is well established within the CCG and staff
receive regular training and updates to ensure any risks associated with this are identified
and managed. The governing body and committee report cover sheets also include
reference to the EIA process to demonstrate compliance with this duty and highlight any
potential issues.

Risk appetite
Risk appetite is the organisation’s unique attitude towards risk as it is the amount of risk
that the organisation is prepared to accept, tolerate or to be exposed to at any point in
time. It can be influenced by personal experience, political factors and external events.
Risks were considered in terms of both opportunities and threats and not confined to
money.
The CCG tries to reduce risks to the lowest level reasonably practicable. Where risks
cannot reasonably be avoided, every effort is made to mitigate the remaining risk.
However, an understanding of the organisation’s risk appetite will ensure the CCG
supports a varied and diverse approach to commissioning, to work proactively and to
improve quality, efficiency and value.
In line with best practice, the governing body reviewed each strategic objective individually
and set the risk appetite for each one. It is recognised that the risk appetite may differ for
each objective depending on the nature of the objective and the required actions
necessary to deliver that objective. The governing body used the Good Governance
Institute risk appetite matrix for NHS organisations to establish what its risk appetite was.
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The governing body discussed and agreed its risk appetite for 2015/16 at its development
session held in October 2015 using the matrix tool. It reviewed its risk appetite from the
previous year and concluded that this had changed in view of the additional
responsibilities, such as co-commissioning and the transformational work as part of the
integration agenda. The governing body concluded that the CCG’s overall organisation risk
appetite was:
• Seek: eager to be innovative and to choose options offering potentially higher
rewards (despite greater inherent risk)
In line with best practice, the governing body also reviewed the CCG’s corporate
objectives (detailed later in this governance statement) and set the risk appetite for each
one individually as:

Risk Appetite Matrix
Objective
CO1: ensure the CCG meets its public accountability
duties
CO2a: maintain financial control
CO2b: maintain performance targets
CO3: maintain and improve the quality and safety of
CCG commissioned services
CO4: ensure the CCG involves patients and the public
in commissioning and reforming services
CO5: identify and deliver the CCG’s key strategic
priorities
CO6: continue to develop the CCG localities
CO7: integrating health and social services, including
the Better Care Fund
CO8: development and delivery of primary medical care
commissioning

Risk Appetite
Open/Seek
Open
Seek
Seek
Open
Seek
Open
Seek
Seek

Risk assessment
The CCG has ensured that its risk management processes are embedded throughout the
organisation and provide a clear process for identifying, analysing, evaluating, controlling,
monitoring and communicating risk. The types of risks the CCG faces include corporate
(accountability to the public), clinical (associated with our commissioning responsibilities),
reputational and financial risks.
The CCG uses a standard matrix methodology in the application of a risk rating to ensure
a consistent approach to the prioritisation of risks and effective targeting of resources.
Risks are assessed using the consequence and likelihood of that risk occurring, giving an
overall rating of high, moderate or low. This rating is recorded against the identified risk
and managed via a serious of controls and actions and progress is monitored via the
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CCG’s governance processes. The financial impact of the identified risk is also assessed
and included on the register.
Each director team has its own risk register, aligned to the CCG’s corporate objectives and
assurance framework, to identify existing or prospective risks to the organisation. These
registers are supported by a corporate register, which focuses on the high risks that have
been identified to the delivery of the CCG’s strategic objectives. In addition, risks are
identified through our strategic planning process and monitored via our performance
management system that rates all objectives for risk to delivery.
During the year, registers have been reviewed on a bi-monthly basis by the quality, safety
and risk committee and on a quarterly basis by the audit committee and governing body.
A robust system is in place to enable the directorates to manage their risks regularly, with
specialist support, advice and training available from the head of corporate affairs and
North of England Commissioning Support Service (NECS). The CCG has a service line
agreement in place with NECS to provide support in relation to risk management.
The risk management process has enabled the CCG to maintain a continued focus on
those risks with a potential greater impact on the organisation at both committee and
governing body level. One of the key recommendations from this review was the
establishment of a risk management group as a formal sub group of the quality, safety and
risk committee to maintain an operational focus on all risks and enable a greater focus on
moderate and high-level risks at both committee and governing body level. The group
held its first meeting in May 2015 and has continued to meet bi-monthly throughout the
year.
The CCG identified some high risks during the year and mitigating action plans were put
in place to address these. These risks have been monitored closely by the quality, safety
and risk committee and governing body.
These risks included:
• Healthcare acquired infections (HCAI)
• Ambulance handovers and delays
• A&E attendances
• Safeguarding pressures
• Implementation of the Better Care Fund
• Prescribing pressures

Control mechanisms
The governing body reviewed and agreed the CCG’s corporate objectives at its
development session held in May 2015 (as described in the previous risk appetite section).
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Whenever risks to the achievement of the CCG’s objectives were identified, an
assessment was undertaken to ensure the appropriate controls were put in place (using
the existing strategic risks identified on the risk register and aligned to the corporate
objectives). In addition, supporting action plans were identified and implemented to
mitigate these risks materialising as far as possible. A number of controls and
assurances, along with associated gaps in assurance and controls, were also identified
and together these formed the governing body assurance framework (GBAF) for 2015/16.
The governing body maintains oversight of the internal control and risk management
frameworks and seeks assurance that these are being managed within appropriate
delegated limits and with specified objectives and robust action plans. The audit committee
provides the governing body with an independent and objective review on the CCG’s
finance and governance systems, financial information and compliance with laws,
guidance, and regulations governing the NHS in so far as they relate to finance and
ensures the adequacy and effectiveness of the GBAF, using it to guide its work and that of
audit and assurance functions that report to it.
Specific risks relating to the 2015/16 GBAF included:
• No additional running costs allowance to account for potential commissioning
responsibilities
•

Risk of an overspend in relation to prescribing and commissioned services

•

Risk to the delivery of key NHS Constitution standards (A&E, 18 weeks and cancer)

•

Unprecedented safeguarding activity

•

Failing to make progress in improving health

•

Impact of efficiencies made by commissioners and providers across the system not
sufficient

A number of gaps in assurance and controls were identified in reviewing and agreeing the
assurance framework. These have been monitored as appropriate within the committee
structure.
A number of audits have been conducted throughout the year focusing on key governance
areas such as standards of business conduct, corporate decision-making, financial
systems and risk management. The outcomes of these audits gave the CCG a rating of
significant assurance for each of these areas.
The CCG also refreshed its five year commissioning plan (plan on a page) which
described the long term vision for health and social care of Sunderland. The risks to
delivery of this plan have been systematically identified and quantified for all of the
investment and disinvestment initiatives as part of the detailed planning process and in
collaboration with all relevant partners, using a risk-based assessment of likelihood and
consequence. The CCG financial framework also used this risk-based approach to
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develop a balanced financial plan year on year. Contingencies were identified within the
financial framework to ensure high level financial risks could be addressed. The CCG
used its local prioritisation process to enable the balance of investments and
disinvestments to be robustly assessed and reviewed.
The CCG has a duty to work with partners to improve the health of the local population.
Partnerships can involve high levels of risk due to their complexities making robust risk
management an essential element of partnership governance. The CCG has ensured that
any work carried out across the health and social care economy adhered to the CCG’s
principles of robust risk management, focusing on those areas considered to be of highest
risk and undertaking appropriate risk assessments and mitigating action plans as
necessary.
The CCG involves key stakeholders and the public in the management of risks through its
public governing body meetings. The risk register is a regular item on the public agenda
and there is an opportunity for them to ask questions on the register as a whole or any
specific risks during the meeting. In addition, key stakeholders and the public are invited
to specific events such to discuss issues and topics in detail, which includes identifying
and assessing relevant risks. There is also the opportunity through the Sunderland Health
Forum and collaborative working across the health economy to discuss risks openly and to
help identify ways in which they should be managed. By working in an inclusive way with
the public, this ensures the CCG takes into account the views of the public and key
stakeholders. Any such views form a crucial part of developing robust mitigating action
plans for any identified risks.

The CCG internal control framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the CCG to
ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to identify and prioritise
risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks materialising and the impact should they
materialise, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than
eliminating all risk. It can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurances
of effectiveness.
The system of internal control has been in place in the CCG for the full year ended 31
March 2016 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts.
The committee structure within the CCG has been established to ensure there are robust
reporting mechanisms and clear lines of accountability in place to provide assurance to the
governing body, and ultimately our members, that the CCG is discharging its activities and
functions effectively.
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The scheme of delegation and reservation sets out the responsibilities of the membership,
governing body and its sub-committees, the chief officer and other directors to ensure the
CCG discharges its functions appropriately. The scheme is explicit in defining where the
responsibilities lie in delivering each of these key functions and also provides a framework
by which the governing body, on behalf of the members, can seek assurance these are
being done so appropriately.
The CCG’s constitution sets out the role and responsibilities of the governing body as well
as each of its formal sub-committees. Each formal sub-committee has its own agreed
terms of reference in place to ensure it carries out its delegated functions on behalf of the
governing body appropriately and within its remit. Each of the committees is subject to an
annual review of effectiveness and this is reviewed by the governing body.
The CCG has a governing body assurance framework (GBAF) in place to identify gaps in
control and provide assurance against the delivery of the CCG’s corporate objectives. The
previous section on risk management describes the assurance framework in detail,
highlighting the corporate objectives and key risks to the delivery of these.
The controls identified within the GBAF were assessed as the key elements needed to
mitigate risks to delivery of the corporate objectives as far as possible, act as a deterrent to
risks occurring and provide a structured approach by which identified risks could be
managed. The GBAF and risk management framework (as described in the previous
section) both support the delivery of the corporate objectives and forms part of the internal
control framework.
The CCG financial framework also forms part of the internal control framework, with a
number of approved policies and procedures in place to ensure the CCG manages its
finance in accordance with national policy and guidelines. The CCG constitution sets out
the prime financial policies and the financial scheme of delegation, as approved by the
governing body, sets out the delegated limits for key individuals within the CCG. This
ensures these individuals have a clear framework in place within which they can make
financial decisions. Compliance with the scheme is monitored by the audit committee and
governing body to ensure delegated limits are being adhered to.
Following the delegation of the primary medical care commissioning function from NHS
England, further control mechanisms were put in place to ensure the CCG delivers the
requirements of the delegated function appropriately. A signed delegation agreement
between the CCG and NHS England is in place and sets out the roles and responsibilities
of each organisation. The CCG’s constitution was updated with the requirements as part
of the application process in early 2015, however since the establishment of the primary
care commissioning committee, these have been reflected in its terms of reference.
In relation to the better care fund, the CCG also has a signed agreement in place with
Sunderland City Council to set out the roles and responsibilities for each organisation and
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the delivery requirements for the programme. The CCG monitors delivery of this through
the transformation board (which the CCG chairs) and the health and social care integration
board (a sub-committee of the health and wealth being board) and regular reporting to the
governing body.

Information governance
The NHS information governance framework sets out the processes and procedures by
which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal
identifiable information. The NHS information governance framework is supported by an
information governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to
the CCG, other organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt with
legally, securely, efficiently and effectively.
The governing body is aware of the importance of maintaining high standards of
information governance and securing confidentiality of patients’ information. As senior
information risk owner (SIRO), I ensure this function is discharged appropriately, with the
executive committee maintaining oversight of this. The CCG medical director is our
Caldicott Guardian and we are both supported in our roles by the head of corporate affairs
and via a service line agreement with NECS to provide specialist advice, support and
training on information governance issues.
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems
and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information. We have an
established information governance framework in place consisting of an approved strategy
(reviewed annually), a suite of approved policies and procedures, and a programme of
mandatory training for information risk management and incident management. This
framework helps to ensure all staff are aware of their information governance roles and
responsibilities and it is embedded into everyday practice of the CCG. Appropriate
information governance training is also readily available and we ensure all staff undertake
this on an annual basis.
The CCG has also adopted and implemented the Health and Social Care Information
Centre’s (HSCIC), ‘checklist for reporting, managing and investigating information
governance serious incidents requiring investigating’. The CCG has put in place a
standard operating procedure for the reporting of level two information governance
incidents to the Information Commissioner. This procedure outlines the scope of
responsibilities and details the reporting procedures to be used in the event of a data
security breach. I can confirm the CCG has had no serious information governance
breaches in year.
The information governance toolkit has been provided by the HSCIC to support
performance monitoring of progress on information governance in the NHS. The CCG has
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undertaken a self-assessment against the specified criteria within the toolkit and assessed
ourselves as being overall compliant by the 31 March 2016.

Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources
The business rules for CCGs during 2015/16 were determined by NHS England and from
a financial perspective these were as follows:
• Spend 1% of our allocation on non-recurrent schemes only
• Hold a 0.5% contingency
• Deliver a cumulative surplus of not less than 1% of allocation
• Running costs spend of the CCG to be no more than the running costs
allocation
The financial plans and budgets approved by the governing body in March 2016 clearly
demonstrated achievement of these goals. The level of cumulative surplus for the CCG
was agreed as £16.1m at the start of the year which was considerably in excess of the
minimum requirement. The planned surplus was increased by £2m to £18.6m during the
year and this was agreed and approved by NHS England and the governing body of the
CCG.
The governing body agreed to deliver a surplus in excess of the minimum to try and
protect the organisation from future tighter financial constraints. Any surplus in excess of
the minimum will be available to the CCG in future years to assist in the management of
financial risk.
Throughout the year we have constantly reported to the governing body and audit
committee on the delivery against our plans which demonstrated robust financial
planning, control and effective uses of resources. Quality, innovation, productivity and
prevention (QIPP) programmes have been delivered during the year releasing funds for
reinvestment into new services. Savings were made in areas such improving value for
money, out of hours services and from the musculoskeletal service pathway redesign.
Internal audit also undertook a review during the year of the CCG’s financial
management and effective use of resources, including sustainability. The CCG
achieved an outcome rating of significant assurance for these audits with no issues to
report.

Feedback from delegation chains regarding business, use of resources and
responses to risk
The CCG currently contracts with a number of external organisations for the provision of
back office services and functions and as such has established an internal control system
to gain assurance from these. These external services include:
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•

The provision of Oracle financial system and financial accounting support from
NHS Shared Business Services. The use of NHS Shared Business Services is
mandated by NHS England for all CCGs and is fundamental in producing NHS
England group financial accounts through the use of an integrated financial ledger
system

•

The provision of financial accounting services from the North of England
Commissioning Support Unit

•

The provision of payroll services from Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation
Trust

•

The provision of the ESR payroll systems support from McKesson

•

The provision of practice payment services via the Exeter system processed by
NHS England

Assurance on the effectiveness of the controls is received in part from annual service audit
reports and internal audit assurance reports from the relevant service providers as well as
additional testing of controls by the CCG’s internal auditors. The outcome from these
audits is reported to the audit committee and subsequently the governing body via the
audit committee minutes.

Primary care delegated functions
NHS England delegated authority to the CCG to exercise primary medical care
commissioning functions from April 2015 (often referred to as “Level 3 Delegated CoCommissioning”)
For 2015/16 the CCG had been recharged the related costs from NHS England on a
monthly basis and the following sources of assurances relating to the controls and
accuracy of recharges and subsequent financial reporting with the CCG’s accounts are as
follows:
•

•

ISA3402 report - Health and Social Care Information Centre (HSCIC). GMS/PMS
recharges are driven by formulae and demographic data maintained on the Exeter
system by the Health and Social Care Information Centre (HSCIC). An ISA3402
report has been requested from HSCIC to provide assurance over their processes
for 2015/16
Recharge process from NHS England to CCGs - Deloitte LLP will be performing a
verification exercise for 2015/16 to confirm that journals raised by NHS England to
CCGs for Exeter transaction recharges are based on the same values and GP
identifiers as those calculated by Exeter. This will confirm that the recharge
journals are the same value as if the costs had interfaced directly from Exeter into
the CCG ledger rather than via NHS England. The results of this exercise will be
made available to the CCG and local auditors
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•

•
•
•
•

NHS Shared Business Services (SBS) ISFE service auditor report - this report
covers financial processes operated by NHS SBS, including controls on the
National Health Applications and Infrastructure Services (NHAIS) interface between
Exeter and the NHS England ISFE ledger
Primary care team assurance: Capita service auditor report – this report covers the
activities of primary care teams for the period of September 2015 to March 2016
NHS England local area team financial controls - reports from the local area team to
the CCG on their internal financial controls and their effectiveness
CCG controls - control mechanisms that are in place to review and approve
recharges posted into the CCG ledger by CCG senior officers
Financial reporting - review of financial reporting against budget by the primary care
commissioning committee on a monthly basis.

The CCG has developed and implemented in-house controls relating to delegated primary
care functions. These in-house controls were audited by Internal Audit as part of the
primary care co-commissioning governance arrangements audit in 2015/16 gaining
significant assurance.

North of England Commissioning Support Service (NECS)
The CCG contracts with NECS for the provision of a number of commissioning support
functions such as human resources, information technology and some finance
services. The CCG has established an internal control system to gain assurance from
NECS on these functions.
Service auditor reports from NECS provided assurance on the internal controls and control
procedures operated by this service organisation to its customers and their
auditors. Finance and payroll services service auditor reports (SAR) have been received
from NECS covering the full year.
The first report was for the period covering April to September 2015. When reporting on
the internal controls and control procedures Deloitte noted control exceptions in six areas.
Following publication of the SAR NECS reviewed the control exceptions noted and
formulated actions to ensure compliance in future periods. Following a review by the CCG
of the control exceptions it was noted there were four areas where control exceptions in
the SAR which are not applicable to the CCG as these services are completed in house
within the CCG. The remaining two areas where control exceptions were identified were
applicable to the CCG and related to the recording of training of finance staff and controls
in payroll services. However, the CCG had in place other financial controls systems in
place that mitigated the control weaknesses identified within NECS. These in-house
controls were audited by Internal Audit as part of the financial systems audit in 2015/16
gaining significant assurance.
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The remaining two areas where control exceptions were identified were applicable to the
CCG and related to the recording of training of finance staff and controls in payroll
services. However, the CCG had in place other financial controls systems in place that
mitigated the control weaknesses identified within NECS. These in-house controls were
audited by Internal Audit as part of the financial systems audit in 2015/16 gaining
significant assurance.
The second report was received for the period covering October 2015 to February 2016.
Deloitte noted control exceptions in five areas. Following a review by the CCG of the
control exceptions it was identified there were two areas which are not applicable to the
CCG as these services are completed in house within the CCG. The remaining three
areas identified were applicable to the CCG and related to approval of sales invoices,
availability of financial reporting processes to finance staff and controls in payroll services.
The in-house controls audited by Internal Audit as part of the financial systems audit for
2015/16 covered financial control systems within the CCG which mitigated these control
weaknesses.
A bridging letter has been provided by NECS for the period covering 1 March 2016 to 31
March 2016 in order to provide assurance on the effectiveness of controls. There were no
exceptions noted within the bridging letter provided by NECS which are applicable to the
CCG.

Review of effectiveness of governance, risk management and internal control
As accountable officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system
of internal control within the CCG.

Capacity to handle risk
The CCG is committed to commissioning high quality and safe services and demonstrates
leadership in risk management through the risk management framework. The framework
sets out clear roles and responsibilities within the CCG to implement the risk management
process.
The responsibility for risk management is identified at all levels across the CCG, from
governing body members, directors and to all managers and staff.
As chief officer, I have overall responsibility to ensure the implementation of the framework
with supporting risk management systems and internal control. I also ensure an
appropriate committee structure is in place to meet all the statutory requirements and
ensure positive performance towards the achievement of the CCG’s strategic priorities.
Day to day responsibility for risk management is delegated to the head of corporate affairs.
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The chief finance officer provides expert professional advice to the governing body on the
efficient and economic use of the CCG’s financial resources. This includes ensuring the
CCG has appropriate arrangements in place for audit and identifying risks and mitigating
actions in the delivery of quality QIPP.
The medical director and director of nursing, quality and safety and six elected GPs
promote risk management processes with the CCG’s member practices.
All senior leaders within the CCG has a responsibility to incorporate risk management
within all aspects of their work in line with the requirements set out in the risk management
framework as described in an earlier section of this statement. Appropriate training has
also taken place over the year to enable senior leaders to undertake their risk
management duties appropriately and enable them to share best practice. The risk
management group helps to support this and its membership includes all heads of service.
The governing body maintains oversight of the internal control and risk management
frameworks and seeks assurance that these are being managed within appropriate
delegated limits and with specified objectives and robust action plans. The role of the
governing body is to seek this assurance on behalf of the CCG members and ensure the
CCG fulfills its statutory duties and functions.
The quality, safety and risk committee (QSRC) described earlier in this statement the main
committee with responsibility for risk management. The committee receives regular
information to review progress against highlighted risks and issues and to provide
assurance to the governing body that progress is being made towards mitigating these.
The committee reviews the risk register in detail as part of this.
The QSRC membership includes a number of clinicians as well as appropriate senior
management representation from across the CCG functions. The committee receives
regular updates on the key strategic risks, whilst the risk management group maintains a
focus on both operational and strategic risks. In addition, specific risks are reviewed in
detail in the relevant sub groups such as infection control, system resilience and
safeguarding.
The audit committee maintains oversight of the CCGs risk management and internal
control arrangements. The committee reviews the governing body assurance framework to
identify any gaps in controls and assurances and provides assurance to the governing
body that the CCG is discharging its functions appropriately.
The executive committee reviews key risks and issues on an exception basis when
required for additional scrutiny.
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Review of effectiveness
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of
the internal auditors and the executive managers and clinical leads within the CCG who
has responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework. I
have drawn on performance information available to me. My review is also informed by
comments made by the external auditors in their reports.
The governing body assurance framework itself provides me with evidence that the
effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the CCG achieving its principles have been
reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of
the system of internal control by the governing body, the audit committee and quality,
safety and risk committee, and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous
improvement of the system is in place.
The internal control section earlier in this statement describes in detail the process that
has been applied in maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the CCG’s system of
internal control.
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the CCG, the head
of internal audit issued an independent and objective opinion on the adequacy and
effectiveness of the CCG’s system of risk management, governance and internal control.
The head of internal audit opinion is included in summary below.

Head of internal audit opinion
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the CCG, the head
of internal audit issued an independent and objective opinion on the adequacy and
effectiveness of the CCG’s system of risk management, governance and internal control.
Purpose of the head of internal audit opinion
The purpose of my head of internal audit opinion is to contribute to the assurances
available to the accounting officer and the governing body which underpin the governing
body’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal
control. This opinion will in turn assist the governing body in the completion of this annual
governance statement.
My opinion is set out as follows:
•
•
•

overall opinion
basis for the opinion; and
commentary
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Overall opinion
My overall opinion is that:
“On the basis of work carried out in accordance with the annual internal audit plan
2015/16, significant assurance can be given that there is a generally sound system of
internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are
generally being applied consistently. However, some weaknesses in the design and/or
inconsistent application of controls, puts the achievement of particular objectives at risk.”
Basis for the opinion
The basis for forming my opinion is as follows:
•

An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning assurance
framework and supporting processes

•

An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from risk-based audit
assignments, contained within internal audit risk-based plans that have been
reported throughout the period. This assessment has taken account of the
relative materiality of these areas and management’s progress in respect of
addressing control weaknesses

Commentary
The commentary below provides the context for my opinion and together with the opinion
should be read in its entirety.
The design and operation of the assurance framework and supporting processes
The governing body assurance framework 2015/16 is based on the CCG’s strategic
objectives and an analysis of the principle risks to achieving those objectives. The key
controls that have been put in place to manage the risks have been documented, and the
sources of assurance for individual controls have been identified. It has been assessed by
internal audit that the assurance framework is effective in bringing together all of the
activities and objectives of the CCG. It provides the CCG with a comprehensive
mechanism for the management of the principal risks to meeting its strategic objectives
and supports the compilation of the annual governance statement. Although there are a
number of gaps in control, plans were put in place to mitigate or eradicate the gaps and
these are being followed.
The CCG has developed risk management processes that are operating within the
organisation. A risk management framework, supported by appropriate procedures, is in
place. The quality, safety and risk committee oversee the risk management agenda and
report to the governing body. Together with the audit committee, they provide assurance to
the governing body on the systems and processes by which the organisation leads, directs
and controls its functions in order to achieve its strategic objectives.
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Individual opinions arising from risk-based audit assignments
My opinion is derived from the completion of a range of risk-based internal audit
assignments, which have been undertaken in accordance with the annual internal audit
plan 2015/16. A table outlining these individual opinions is detailed on page 81.
Definitions of assurance levels and findings and recommendations are set out on page 81
and 84.
The outcome of internal audit work is reported to the audit committee. In addition we have
issued a copy of all individual assignment reports to the chief finance officer, and other
appropriate directors and managers, throughout the year.
We have issued nineteen reports since the completion of the annual internal audit report
2014/15 in May 2015. A total of eighteen medium priority issues and nineteen low priority
issues have been raised. We have not raised any high priority issues during 2015/16.
Of those reports issued, we issued an assurance rating of ‘significant’ for eighteen audits.
The audit of policy management was given an assurance rating of ‘limited assurance’. The
audit covered the management of corporate policies and information governance policies
and a total of three medium priority issues and three low priority issues were raised. The
medium priority issues surround the review processes for the policies tested by Internal
Audit (a number were significantly overdue for review) as well as several instances where
policies did not contain all information as per the standard template. In response to these
findings, management action has been agreed and will be followed up by Internal Audit in
during 2016/17.
Conclusion
Taking into account all of my findings, and the CCG’s actions in response to issues raised,
I consider that there are no areas of significant weakness remaining that are relevant to
the preparation of this annual governance statement.
Acknowledgement
The assistance provided by NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group staff during
the course of our work is greatly appreciated.

Amanda Bellis
Head of Internal Audit
May 2016
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Individual assurance opinions
Audit

Current Status

Assurance opinion

Financial planning and QIPP

Final report issued

Significant assurance

Assurance framework and risk management

Final report issued

Significant assurance

Implementing the medicines optimisation strategy

Final report issued

Significant assurance

Standards of business conduct/ conflicts of
interest
Primary care co-commissioning governance
arrangements
Healthcare contract monitoring

Final report issued

Significant assurance

Final report issued

Significant assurance

Final report issued

Significant assurance

Complaints

Final report issued

Significant assurance

Financial systems

Final report issued

Significant assurance

Quality action plan (previously response to
Francis)
Communication and engagement (including
Engaging CCG members)
Continuing health care processes

Final report issued

Significant assurance

Final report issued

Significant assurance

Final report issued

Significant assurance

Health and safety, fire safety and security
management
Performance framework and the quality premium

Final report issued

Significant assurance

Final report issued

Significant assurance

Business continuity planning

Final report issued

Significant assurance

Information governance

Final report issued

Significant assurance

Policy management - corporate policies and
information governance policies
Better care fund

Final report issued

Limited assurance

Final report issued

Significant assurance

Safeguarding

Final report issued

Significant assurance

Sustainable development

Final report issued

Significant assurance

Individual audit opinions
• Significant: Significant assurance can be given that there is a generally sound
system of internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that
controls are generally being applied consistently.
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•

Limited: Limited assurance can be given as weaknesses in the design, and/or
inconsistent application of controls, put the achievement of the organisation’s
objectives at risk in a number of the areas reviewed.

Findings and Recommendations
• High priority: Findings referring to important issues that are fundamental and
material to the Trust’s system of internal control. Action needs to be taken as a
matter of urgency.
•

Medium priority: Issues arising referring mainly to matters that have an important
effect on the Trust’s system of internal control but do not require immediate action.
A system objective may still be met in full or in part or a risk adequately mitigated
but the weakness represents a significant deficiency in the system.

•

Low priority: Issues arising that would, if corrected, improve the Trust’s system of
internal control in general but are not vital to the overall system of internal control.

Data quality
The governing body and member practices are aware of the importance of maintaining
high standards of information governance and securing confidentiality of patients’
information. As senior information risk owner, I ensure this function is discharged
appropriately, with support from the medical director as Caldicott guardian. The CCG also
receives support from NECS via a service line agreement for specialist advice and training
for information governance issues. The governing body and member practices are
satisfied with the quality of data used to inform decision-making and planning to deliver the
commissioning agenda and to ensure the CCG meets its statutory requirements.
Business critical models
I can confirm that an appropriate framework and environment is in place to provide quality
assurance of business critical models, in line with the recommendations in the
Macpherson report. I can confirm that all business critical models have been identified and
that information about quality assurance process for those models has been provide to the
analytical oversight committee, chaired by the chief analyst in the Department of Health.
Data security
We have submitted a satisfactory level of compliance with the information governance
toolkit assessment. The CCG has not had any serious incidents relating to data security
during the time period covered by this report.
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Discharge of statutory functions
The arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained within the corporate governance
framework were developed with extensive expert external legal input, to ensure
compliance with all relevant legislation. That legal advice also informed the matters
reserved for membership body and governing body decision and the scheme of
delegation.
In light of the Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers
conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other
associated legislation and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that the CCG is clear
about the legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which
it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead director.
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and
capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.

Conclusion
As chief officer, I have reviewed the governance and risk management processes within
the CCG and am assured the CCG had an effective system of internal control over the
previous year with no significant control issues.

David Gallagher
Chief Officer (accountable officer)
24 May 2016
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Report by the auditors to the members of the CCG
Independent auditor’s report to the governing body of NHS Sunderland
Clinical Commissioning Group
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Sunderland CCG for the year ended 31
March 2016 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. The financial statements
comprise the statement of comprehensive net expenditure, the statement of financial
position, the statement of changes in taxpayers’ equity, the statement of cash flows and
the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their
preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
adopted by the European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the 2015-16
government Financial Reporting Manual (the 2015-16 FReM) as contained in the
Department of Health Group Manual for Accounts 2015-16 (the 2015-16 MfA) and the
Accounts Direction issued by the NHS Commissioning Board with the approval of the
secretary of state as relevant to the National Health Service in England (the Accounts
Direction).
We have also audited the information in the remuneration and staff report that is described
as being subject to audit.
This report is made solely to the members of the governing body of NHS Sunderland
CCG, as a body, in accordance with part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014
and as set out in paragraph 43 of the statement of responsibilities of auditors and audited
bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the members of the governing body of the CCG those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the governing body of the CCG, as a body, for our audit work, for this report or
for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of the accountable officer and auditor
As explained more fully in the statement of accountable officer’s responsibilities, the
accountable officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and is also responsible for ensuring the
regularity of expenditure and income. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion
on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and international standards
on auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing
Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. We are also responsible for giving an
opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in accordance with the Code of Audit
Practice prepared by the comptroller and auditor general as required by the Local Audit
and Accountability Act 2014 (the ‘Code of Audit Practice’).
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As explained in the annual governance statement, the accountable officer is responsible
for the arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the
CCG's resources. We are required under Section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. Section 21(5)(b) of
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires that our report must not contain our
opinion if we are satisfied that proper arrangements are in place.
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the
CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources are operating effectively.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes assessing:
•
•
•

whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the CCG’s circumstances and have
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed;
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the accountable
officer; and
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report to
identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any
information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with,
the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of
any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for
our report.
In addition, we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that
the expenditure and income reported in the financial statements have been applied to the
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities
which govern them.

Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of resources
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having
regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the comptroller and auditor
general in November 2015, as to whether the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it
took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and
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sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The comptroller and auditor general
determined this criterion as that necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit
Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended
31 March 2016.
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk
assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on
whether, in all significant respects, the CCG had put in place proper arrangements to
secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

Opinion on the financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:
•
•

give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS Sunderland CCG as at 31
March 2016 and of its net expenditure and income for the year then ended; and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 2012
and the Accounts Directions issued thereunder.

Opinion on regularity
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income reflected in the financial
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial
transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.

Opinion on other matters
In our opinion:
• the parts of the remuneration and staff report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with the annual report directions made under the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012); and
• the other information published together with the audited financial statements in the
annual report and accounts is consistent with the financial statements.
Matters on which we report by exception
We are required to report to you if:
• in our opinion the governance statement does not comply with the guidance issued by
the NHS England; or
• we refer a matter to the secretary of state under section 30 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer
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•
•
•

of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve
the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a
course of action which, if followed to its conclusion , would be unlawful and likely to
cause a loss or deficiency; or
we issue a report in the public interest under section 24, schedule 7 of the Local Audit
and Accountability Act 2014; or
we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24, schedule 7 of the
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or
we are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31
March 2016.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS Sunderland CCG in
accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the
Code of Audit Practice.

Cameron Waddell
Partner
For and on behalf of Mazars LLP
The Rivergreen Centre
Aykley Heads
Durham
DH1 5TS
25 May 2016
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Remuneration and staff report
The remuneration and staff report gives details of CCG staff and remuneration. It sets out
the CCG’s remuneration policy for directors and senior managers, reports on how that
policy has been implemented and sets out the amounts awarded to directors and senior
managers and where relevant the link between performance and remuneration.

Remuneration policy of very senior managers (VSM)
The policy for remuneration of very senior managers within the CCG is in line with the
national VSM pay framework, taking into account Sunderland is a medium sized CCG at a
level 2.
All senior manager contracts, specifying terms and conditions of service are in line with
the VSM pay framework or Agenda for Change as appropriate. The medical director terms
and conditions of service are in line with the medical consultant contract. All other senior
managers are remunerated in line with Agenda for Change requirements.
The remuneration committee was established to advise the governing body about pay,
other benefits and terms of employment for the chief officer and other senior staff. The
committee has delegated authority from the governing body to make recommendations on
determinations about pay and remuneration. Further details on the work of the committee
can be found in the annual governance statement section of this annual report.
The remuneration for senior managers for current and future financial years is determined
in accordance with relevant guidance, best practice and national policy. Continuation of
employment for all senior managers is subject to satisfactory performance. Performance in
post and progress in achieving set objectives is reviewed annually. This is in accordance
with standard NHS terms and conditions of service and guidance issued by the
Department of Health.
Contracts of employment in relation to all senior managers employed by the CCG on VSM
are permanent in nature and subject to six months’ notice of termination by either party.
Termination payments are limited to those laid down in statute and those provided for
within NHS terms and conditions of service and under the NHS Pension Scheme
Regulations for those who are members of the scheme. No awards have been made
during the year.

Page 88 of 97

Pensions entitlements (has been subject to audit)
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Compensation on early retirement, loss of office or exit packages (has been
subject to audit)
The CCG has not made any payments for compensation on early retirement, loss of office
during 2015/16 or exit packages up to the time of writing this annual report.

Salaries and allowances (has been subject to audit)
The remuneration figures are given in the tables below.
Notes to salaries and allowances shown in the tables below: the figures in the tables below
relate to all those individuals who hold or who have held office as a senior manager in the
CCG during 2015/16.
The definition of a senior manager in the CCG is in accordance with the guidance provided
in the Department of Health Group Manual for Accounts (2015). It is ‘those persons in
senior positions having authority or responsibility for directing or controlling the major
activities of the CCG, which are those who influence the decisions of the CCG as a whole
rather than the decisions of individual directorates or departments’.
This definition covers all members of the governing body and CCG senior managers in
regular attendance at the governing body (including those appointed in an interim
capacity). The director of public health is not employed by the CCG and receives no
remuneration from the CCG for her CCG governing body role.
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Pay multiples (has been subject to audit)
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of
the highest-paid director/Member in their organisation and the median remuneration of the
organisation's workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/Member of NHS Sunderland CCG in
the financial year 2015/16 was £120,000 - £125,000 (2014/15, £120,000 - £125,000). This
was 3.00 times (2014/15: 3.08 times) the median remuneration of the workforce, which
was £40,964 (2014/15: £39,239). The median remuneration comparator for 2014/15
excluded all governing body member remuneration and should have only excluded the
highest paid director. This should have stated the median total remuneration as £42,477
and ratio as 2.85 times.
In 2015/16, 0 (2014/15: 0) employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid
member/Director. Remuneration ranged from £1,837 to £98,453 (2014/15: £4,110 to
£89,705). The remuneration range comparator for 2014/15 excluded all governing body
member remuneration and should have only excluded the highest paid director. This
should have stated the range as £2,667 to £98,453 for 2014/15.
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefitsin-kind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions
and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.

Band of Highest Paid Director/Member Total Remuneration (£'000)
Median Total Remuneration (£)
Ratio

2015/16

2014/15

120 - 125

120 - 125

40,964

39,239

3.00

3.08

There has been a decrease in the ratio of the median remuneration of the workforce in
comparison to the highest paid director/Member. This is due to the inclusion of all
governing body remuneration in the calculation for 2015/16 offset an increase in the
taxable allowances of the highest paid director/Member in 2015/16 in comparison to
2014/15.
2015/16 Highest Paid Director/Member:
Chief Officer 120 - 125
2014/15 Highest Paid Director/Member:
Chief Officer 120 - 125
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Off-payroll engagements disclosure
Off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2016, for more than £220 per day and that lasted
longer than 6 months are detailed in the table on the following page:
Total number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2016
Of which, the number that have existed :
• For less than one year at the time of reporting
• For between one and two years at the time of reporting
• For between two and three years at the time of reporting
• For between three and four years at the time of reporting
• For four or more years at the time of reporting

Number
1
0
1
0
0
0

All existing off-payroll engagements, have at some point been subject to a risk based
assessment as to whether assurance is required that the individual is paying the right
amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been sought.
New off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016, for more than
£220 per day and that lasted longer than six months:

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months
in duration, between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016
Number of the above which include contractual clauses giving the
CCG the right to request assurance in relation to Income Tax and
National Insurance obligations
Number for whom assurance has been requested
Of which:
• assurance has been received
• assurance has not been received
• engagements terminated as a result of assurance not
being received

Number
1
1

1
1
0
0

Off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or, senior officials with significant
financial responsibility, between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016:

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or
senior officers with significant financial responsibility, during the
financial year
Number of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been
deemed ‘board members, and/or senior officials with significant
financial responsibility’, during the financial year. This figure
includes both on payroll and off-payroll engagements.

Number
0

24

All board members and/or senior officials are paid on payroll.
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Very Senior Manager Remuneration
Reporting bodies are required to disclose where the remuneration of senior managers is in
excess of the prime minister’s salary of £142,500 on a pro rata basis.
There were seven senior officers who received a salary in excess of the prime minister’s
salary in 2015/16 on a pro rata basis. The remuneration committee has reviewed its
policies on executive remuneration in line with NHS guidance and has deemed the
payments to senior managers to be proportionate and publicly justifiable.

External audit
The Audit Commission appointed Mazars LLP as the CCG’s external auditor for the years
2013/14 to 2016/17. The 2015/16 audit fee was £67,500 plus VAT.

Staff report
Staff composition (has been subject to audit)
During the year 1 April to 31 March 2016, the CCG’s staff composition on the governing
body, very senior managers (VSM) and all CCG staff was as follows:

Category of staff

Total number of
staff/members

Number of male
staff/members

Number of female
staff/members

Governing body* members

12

7

5

Senior officers** (VSM and
above)

5

3

2

110

27

83

115

30

85

All other employees
Total employees

*this figure includes substantive voting, interim voting and non-voting members of the governing body as listed in the
accountability report section of this annual report. The governing body figures are provided as standalone figures, they
do not contribute to the total figure for the whole CCG as some members may also be senior managers and some may
not be on the payroll and not included in the total.
**the CCG’s VSM are employees and are all members of the governing body therefore are included in all the figures
shown above.

The CCG can demonstrate fair and equitable recruitment, workforce engagement and
employment terms and conditions to ensure levels of pay and related terms and conditions
are fairly determined for all posts, with staff doing equal work, and work rated as of equal
value, being entitled to equal pay.
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Sickness absence
The CCG has an agreed policy on the management of staff absence which ensures all
staff are treated fairly and equitably, with the relevant support from line managers and HR
advisors. The CCG also has access to occupational health services.
Average of 12
months
(2015 calendar
year)
4.10%

Average FTE
2015

73.14

FTE Days
Available

16,456

FTE days
Lost to
sickness
absence

Average
Sick Days
per FTE

675

9.2

Estimated Cost
of Sickness
Absence

£140,930.59

*Note: the above sickness and absence data is based on the calendar year as per the Department
of Health guidance.

Staff policies
The CCG has a suite of staff policies in place. The CCG has taken positive steps
throughout the year to maintain and develop the provision of information to, and
consultation with employees, including:
•

Providing employees systematically with information on matters of concern to
them as employees

•

Consulting employees and their representatives on a regular basis so that the
views of employees can be taken into account in making decisions which are likely
to affect their interests

•

Encouraging the involvement of employees in the CCG’s performance

•

Taking actions throughout the year to achieve a common awareness on the part of
all employees of the financial and economic factors affecting the performance of
the CCG

•

Membership of the North East Partnership Forum, where staff representatives and
CCG managers from across the region meet together

Consultancy expenditure
The CCG has spent a total of £129,000 on consultancy during 2015/16. This related to the
national vanguard funding programme and was approved by NHS England.
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Employee consultation
The CCG has continued to promote an open and transparent culture with all of its
employees. Monthly staff briefings are held, led by the chief officer, to share key
information and updates on the work of the governing body and its committees as well as
provide a forum for staff to raise any issues or concerns.
In addition, quarterly staff events are held to enable staff to review key topics in more
detail and to seek their views and input into key planning and developments. Regular
updates on the CCG’s performance are also included in the briefings and staff events, as
well as feedback and actions identified as a result of the staff survey.
The CCG is a member of the North East and Cumbria staff partnership forum. The forum
is coordinated by the human resources team within the North of England Commissioning
Support Service (who provide human resources advice and support) and includes
representation from all CCGs across in the North East and Cumbria, human resources
advisors and the recognised unions.

Disabled employees
The CCG has successfully renewed its accreditation as a ‘two tick’ disability employer for
2016. The symbol, awarded by Jobcentre Plus, demonstrates our commitment to employ,
retain and develop the abilities of disabled employees. Further details can be found in the
performance section of this annual report.

David Gallagher
Chief Officer (accountable officer)
24 May 2016
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2016
Note
Total Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits
Operating Expenses
Other operating revenue
Net operating expenditure

4.1
5
2

Programme Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits
Operating Expenses
Other operating revenue
Net programme expenditure

Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year

1

2014-15
£000

4,153
491,929
(623)
495,459

3,659
432,146
(1,528)
434,277

495,459

434,277

4.1
5
2

3,053
2,352
(7)
5,398

2,987
3,292
0
6,279

4.1
5
2

1,100
489,577
(616)
490,061

672
428,854
(1,528)
427,998

495,459

434,277

Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Of which:
Administration Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits
Operating Expenses
Other operating revenue
Net administration costs

2015-16
£000
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Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2016
31-March-2016
Note
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Total non-current assets

£000

31 March 2015
£000

8

39
39

101
101

9
10

1,391
91
1,482

1,514
34
1,548

1,521

1,649

(23,590)
0
(23,590)

(21,684)
(5)
(21,689)

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities

(22,069)

(20,040)

Assets less liabilities

(22,069)

(20,040)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Total taxpayers' equity:

(22,069)
(22,069)

(20,040)
(20,040)

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Total current liabilities

11
12

The notes on pages 5 to 25 form part of this statement

The financial statements on pages 1 to 25 were approved by the Governing Body on 24th May 2016 and signed on its behalf
by:

David Gallagher
Chief Officer (Accountable Officer)
24 May 2016
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended
31 March 2016
General fund
£000

Total
reserves
£000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16
Balance at 1 April 2015
Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from closed NHS
bodies
Adjusted CCG balance at 1 April 2015

(20,040)

(20,040)

0
(20,040)

0
(20,040)

(495,459)
(495,459)
493,430
(22,069)

(495,459)
(495,459)
493,430
(22,069)

General fund
£000

Total reserves
£000

(19,911)

(19,911)

0
(19,911)

0
(19,911)

(434,277)
(434,277)

(434,277)
(434,277)

Net funding

434,148

434,148

Balance at 31 March 2015

(20,040)

(20,040)

Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16:
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Net recognised CCG expenditure for the financial year
Net Parliamentary funding
Balance at 31 March 2016

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15
Balance at 1 April 2014
Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS bodies as a result of the 1
April 2013 transition
Adjusted CCG balance at 1 April 2014
Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15:
Net operating costs for the financial year
Net recognised CCG expenditure for the financial year
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2016
Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net cash outflow from operating activities

2015-16
£000

2014-15
£000

(495,459)
62
123
1,906
(5)
(493,373)

(434,277)
77
233
(202)
5
(434,164)

(493,373)

(434,164)

493,430
493,430

434,148
434,148

57

(16)

Cash and cash equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the
beginning of the financial year

34

50

Cash and cash equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the end of
the financial year

91

34

5
9
11
12

Net cash outflow before financing
Cash flows from financing activities
Net funding received
Net cash inflow from financing activities
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

10
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Notes to the financial statements
1

1.1

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Manual
for Accounts issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
Manual for Accounts 2015-16 issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in the Manual for Accounts follow
International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as
determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Manual for Accounts permits a choice of
accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning
group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical commissioning group are
described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.
Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as
evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.

1.2

1.3

Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same
assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements. If
services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis.
Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.
Pooled Budgets
Where the clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006
the clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled
budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.
These arrangements can be either joint operations or joint ventures. Joint operations are arrangements where contractual agreements are in
place under which the clinical commissioning group and one or more other parties share control. Operations deemed to be joint ventures would
give the clinical commissioning group rights to assets and obligations in relation to liabilities.

1.4

1.4.1

The clinical commissioning group has a pooled budget arrangement with Sunderland City Council for the Better Care Fund, which the Council
hosts. The clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the income and expenditure of the pool as determined by the pooled budget
agreement. The annual contribution to the pooled budget for 2015-16 was £103,743,412 (2014-15, £0).
Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those
estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has made in the process of
applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:
· None
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1.4.2

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
· The assumptions applied in the estimation of activity not yet invoiced, including partially completed treatment spells as at the Statement of
Financial Position date. The full value of partially completed spells included in the financial statements for the clinical commissioning group as at
the Statement of Financial Position date is £2,007,284 (for the period to 31 March 2015 the full value included in the financial statements totalled
£1,753,717). The value is determined through assessment of the estimations made by service providers of the expected liability payable by the
clinical commissioning group as at the Statement of Financial Position date.

1.5

1.6
1.6.1
1.6.2

1.7

1.8
1.8.1

· The assumptions applied in the estimation of prescribing liabilities not yet billed as at the Statement of Financial Position date. Nationally
derived phasing profiles from the NHS Business Services Authority provided for forecasting the likely prescribing outturn has been utilised in
deriving the estimated liability of costs not yet billed for the clinical commissioning group. This was estimated at £8,506,254 as at the Statement
of Financial Position date (for the period to 31st March 2015 the full value included in the financial statements totalled £8,549,559).
Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the
consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.
Employee Benefits
Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees.
Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme
that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales.
The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and
liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of
participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the
liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless
of the method of payment.
Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair
value of the consideration payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation,
which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.
Property, Plant & Equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
· It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
· It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning group;
· It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
· The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
· The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
· Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally
interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single
managerial control; or,
· Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the components are treated
as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
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1.8.2

1.8.3

1.9

1.10

1.10.1

1.10.2

Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset
and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. All assets are
measured subsequently at valuation.
Land and buildings used for the clinical commissioning group’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in the statement of financial
position at their re-valued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any impairment.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from those that would be
determined at the end of the reporting period. Fair values are determined as follows:
· Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,
· Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.
HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on modern equivalent assets and, where it
would meet the location requirements of the service being provided, an alternative site can be valued.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes
professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value.
Assets are re-valued and depreciation commences when they are brought into use.
Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in existing
use.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset previously
recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation
decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation
reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear
consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other
comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where
subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item
replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.
Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible noncurrent assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or
service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain
economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical
life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a
prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any of its tangible or intangible noncurrent assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to
determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the
revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise
from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there
been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged
there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.
Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.
The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the
present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned
between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the
liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as
a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they are
operating or finance leases.
The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the clinical commissioning group’s net investment
in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the clinical
commissioning group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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Notes to the financial statements
1.11

1.12

1.13

1.14

1.15

1.16

1.17

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents
are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with
insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an
integral part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management.
Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
· Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 1.55% (2014-15: minus 1.50%)
· Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1% (2014-15: minus 1.05%)
· Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Minus 0.80% (2014-15: plus 2.20%)
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has
raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features
to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which
are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.
Clinical Negligence Costs
The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the
NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although the NHS
Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the clinical commissioning group.
Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling
schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, receives
assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are
charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.
Continuing healthcare risk pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme was been introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 2013.
Under the scheme clinical commissioning group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the claims. The contributions made
by the clinical commissioning group are determined by NHS England and disclosed in note 5.
The clinical commissioning group entered into risk share arrangements with local clinical commissioning groups for continuing healthcare in 201415 for a period of three financial years. The contributions made by the clinical commissioning group to this arrangement are included within the
reported accounts.
Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or nonoccurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group, or a present obligation that is
not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be
measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an
inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.
Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade
receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the
asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
· Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
· Held to maturity investments;
· Available for sale financial assets; and,
· Loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
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Notes to the financial statements
1.17.1

1.18

1.18.1

1.19

1.20

1.21

Loans & Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an active market. After
initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised using the
effective interest method.
Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, to the
initial fair value of the financial asset.
At the end of the reporting period, the clinical commissioning group assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair value
through profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if there is objective evidence of impairment
as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in
expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount
of the receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.
Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value.
Other Financialg Liabilities
g
p
Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest
method.
Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of
fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed
legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the
generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would
have been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums
then being included as normal revenue expenditure).
Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2015-16, all of which
are subject to consultation:
· IFRS 9: Financial Instruments
· IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts
· IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers
The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2015-16, were they applied in that year.
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2. Other Operating Revenue

Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other revenue
Total other operating revenue

2015-16
Total

2015-16
Admin

2015-16
Programme

2014-15
Total

2014-15
Admin

2014-15
Programme

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

81
542
623

7
0
7

74
542
616

807
721
1,528

0
0
0

807
721
1,528

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of the clinical commissioning group and
credited to the General Fund.
3. Revenue

From rendering of services
From sale of goods
Total

2015-16
Total
£000
623
0
623

10

2015-16
Admin
£000
7
0
7

2015-16
Programme
£000
616
0
616

2014-15
Total
£000
984
544
1,528

2014-15
Admin
£000
0
0
0

2014-15
Programme
£000
984
544
1,528
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1 Employee benefits

2015-16

Permanent
Employees
£000

Total
£000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Total employee benefits expenditure

Total

3,436
297
420
4,153

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Total employee benefits expenditure

Permanent
Employees
£000

Total
£000
262
0
0
262

2,484
238
331
3,053

Total
Permanent
Employees
£000

3,014
280
365
3,659

Other
£000

3,174
297
420
3,891

2014-15

Total
£000

Admin

Programme

Other
£000

2,378
238
331
2,947

106
0
0
106

Other
£000

Permanent
Employees
£000

Total
£000
97
4
7
108

2,451
236
300
2,987

Other
£000

2,364
232
293
2,889

Total

75

Total
Number

Other
Number

70

5

67

2014-15
Permanently
employed
Number
66

87
4
7
98

Other
Number
1

4.3 Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements
Total Days Lost
Total Staff Years
Average working Days Lost

2014-15
Number
709
72
10

The staff sickness numbers for 2015-16 are based on data for the calendar year January 2015 to December 2015 (2014-15: based on data from January 2014 to December 2014).
No staff retired early on ill health grounds during the financial year (2014-15: none).

4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year
No exit packages have been agreed in the financial year (2014-15: none).
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796
59
89
944

Permanent
Employees
£000

Total
£000

None of the above people were engaged on capital projects (2014-15: None).

2015-16
Number
675
73
9

Other
£000
156
0
0
156

Programme

4.2 Average number of people employed
Total
Number

952
59
89
1,100

Admin

2,917
276
358
3,551

2015-16
Permanently
employed
Number

Permanent
Employees
£000

Total
£000

563
44
65
672

553
44
65
662

Other
£000
10
0
0
10
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4.5 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. Details of the benefits payable under these
provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions.
The Scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the
direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The Scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies
to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of
participating in the Scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the Scheme for the accounting period.
The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years (until 2004, every five years) and an accounting valuation every year.
An outline of these follows:
4.5.1 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the Scheme (taking into account its
recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates to be paid by employers and scheme members. The last such
valuation, which determined current contribution rates was undertaken as at 31 March 2012 and covered the period from 1 April 2008 to
that date. Details can be found on the pension scheme website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
For 2015-16, employers’ contributions of £420,323.01 were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2014-15: £364,996.39) were payable
to the NHS Pension Scheme at the rate of 14.3% of pensionable pay. The scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions, usually
every four years and now based on HMT Valuation Directions, following a full scheme valuation. The latest review used data from 31
March 2012 and was published on the Government website on 9 June 2014. These costs are included in the NHS pension line of note 4.1.
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5. Operating expenses
5.1 Analysis of Operating Expenses
2015-16
Total
£000
Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits

2015-16
Admin
£000

2015-16
Programme
£000

2014-15
Total
£000

2014-15
Admin
£000

2014-15
Programme
£000

3,588
565
4,153

2,488
565
3,053

1,100
0
1,100

3,098
561
3,659

2,426
561
2,987

672
0
672

Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Services from other NHS bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Chair and Non Executive Members
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Impairments and reversals of receivables
Depreciation
Audit fees
Prescribing costs
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Other professional fees excl. audit
Education and training
Provisions
CHC Risk Pool contributions
Total other costs

2,628
319,964
526
372
73,845
197
243
129
428
56
1,126
2
62
81
52,267
37,014
125
267
(5)
2,602
491,929

1,042
45
0
0
0
197
240
6
264
21
252
0
0
81
0
0
56
148
0
0
2,352

1,586
319,919
526
372
73,845
0
3
123
164
35
874
2
62
0
52,267
37,014
69
119
(5)
2,602
489,577

2,456
315,139
343
133
57,475
118
281
83
995
60
1,497
0
77
108
51,691
415
378
280
5
612
432,146

1,150
50
0
0
0
118
224
68
380
24
542
0
1
108
0
0
378
249
0
0
3,292

1,306
315,089
343
133
57,475
0
57
15
615
36
955
0
76
0
51,691
415
0
31
5
612
428,854

Total operating expenses

496,082

5,405

490,677

435,805

6,279

429,526

Administration expenditure is expenditure incurred that is not a direct payment for the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.
The CCG has entered into an agreement with NHS England to undertake delegated commissioning of primary care GP services in 2015-16. The expenditure for which is included in in GPMS/APMS and
PCTMS category of £37,014k in 2015-16.

5.2 Analysis of Non NHS Healthcare Operating Expenditure
2015-16
Total
£000
Purchase of Secondary Healthcare
Social Care
Mental Health
Maternity
General and Acute
Accident and Emergency
Community Health Services
Other Contractual
Total Secondary Healthcare Purchased

8,831
7,793
35
8,060
0
42,506
6,620
73,845
2014-15
Total
£000

Purchase of Secondary Healthcare
Social Care
Mental Health
Maternity
General and Acute
Accident and Emergency
Community Health Services
Other Contractual
Total Secondary Healthcare Purchased

1,743
8,130
33
6,722
0
33,965
6,882
57,475

2015-16
ISTCs
£000

2015-16
Other Private
£000

0
0
31
7,880
0
4,315
93
12,319
2014-15
ISTCs
£000

0
311
0
0
0
7,737
1,902
9,950
2014-15
Other Private
£000

0
0
18
6,437
0
5,586
85
12,126

2
1,031
0
0
0
5,997
1,807
8,837
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2015-16
Voluntary
£000
0
722
4
0
0
1,023
1,308
3,057
2014-15
Voluntary
£000
0
567
15
0
0
497
533
1,612

2015-16
Other
£000
8,831
6,760
0
180
0
29,431
3,317
48,519
2014-15
Other
£000
1,741
6,532
0
285
0
21,885
4,457
34,900
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6 Better Payment Practice Code
6.1 Measure of compliance
2015-16
Number

2015-16
£000

2014-15
Number

2014-15
£000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target

5,926
5,806
97.98%

75,712
74,930
98.97%

5,603
5,390
96.20%

59,933
59,032
98.50%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

2,052
2,041
99.46%

325,045
324,888
99.95%

1,950
1,935
99.23%

319,371
319,271
99.97%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the clinical commissioning group to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of
receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.
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7. Operating Leases
7.1 As lessee
The clinical commissioning group has entered into a small number of formal operating lease arrangements,
relating to leased cars and photocopiers, none of which are individually significant. Specific lease terms vary
by individual arrangement but are based upon standard practice for the type of arrangement involved.
The clinical commissioning group also has arrangements in place with NHS Property Services in respect of the
utilisation of various clinical and non-clinical properties. These largely relate to payments made in respect of
void space in clinical properties, as well as for the clinical commissioning group's accommodation costs.
Funding in respect of void spaces was made available from NHS England in the clinical commissioning group's
allocation.
Although formal signed leases are not in place for void spaces in these properties, the transactions involved do
convey the right of the clinical commissioning group to use property assets. The clinical commissioning group
has considered the substance of these arrangements under IFRIC 4 'Determining whether an arrangement
contains a lease' and determined that the arrangements are (or contain) leases.
Accordingly the payments made in 2015-16 for void spaces are disclosed as minimum lease payments in the
buildings category in note 7.1.1 below. In the absence of formal contracts however, it is not possible to confirm
minimum lease payments for future years hence no figures are included in note 7.1.2 below for these
arrangements. It is expected that the payments recognised in 2015-16 would continue to be minimum lease
payments in 2016-17.

7.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense
2015-16
Buildings
£000
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Contingent rents
Sub-lease payments
Total

2015-16
Other
£000

864
0
0
864

2015-16
Total
£000
51
0
0
51

2014-15
Total
£000
915
0
0
915

1,354
0
0
1,354

7.1.2 Future minimum lease payments
2015-16
Buildings
£000
Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

2015-16
Other
£000

84
336
292
712

15

2015-16
Total
£000
14
29
0
43

2014-15
Total
£000
98
365
292
755

90
285
314
689

NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2015-16

8. Property, plant and equipment

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2015

Plant &
machinery
£000
252

Transport
equipment
£000
3

Cost/Valuation At 31 March 2016

252

3

255

Depreciation 01 April 2015

151

3

154

Charged during the year
Depreciation at 31 March 2016

62
213

0
3

62
216

Net Book Value at 31 March 2016

39

0

39

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2016

39
39

0
0

39
39

39
39

0
0

39
39

2015-16

Total
£000
255

Asset financing:
Owned
Total at 31 March 2016

8.1. Cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets
The cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets still in use was as follows:
2015-16
£000
Plant & machinery
Transport equipment
Total

2014-15
£000
27
3
30

27
3
30

Minimum
Life (years)
1

Maximum
Life (Years)
2

8.2. Economic lives
Plant & machinery

16

NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2015-16

9. Trade and other receivables

Current
31 March 2016
£000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments
Non-NHS receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS prepayments
Provision for the impairment of receivables
VAT
Other receivables
Total Trade & other receivables

217
992
114
47
(2)
21
2
1,391

Total current and non current

1,391

Non-current
Current
31 March 2016 31 March 2015
£000
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Non-current
31 March 2015
£000

96
1,109
270
22
0
10
7
1,514
1,514

The great majority of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by Government to provide funding to clinical commissioning
groups to commission services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.

9.1. Receivables past their due date but not impaired

31 March 2016 31 March 2015
£000
£000

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

98
0
0
98

11
0
0
11

£85k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.
The clinical commissioning group did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March 2016 (31 March 2015: £0).

9.2. Provision for impairment of receivables

31 March 2016 31 March 2015
£000
£000
0
0
(2)
0
(2)
0

Balance at 31 March 2015
(Increase) decrease in receivables impaired
Balance at 31 March 2016

10. Cash and cash equivalents
2015-16
£000

2014-15
£000

Balance at 01-April-2015
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2016

34
57
91

50
(16)
34

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

91
91

34
34

Balance at 31 March 2016

91

34

The clinical commissioning group held no cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2016 on behalf of patients (31 March 2015: £0).
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11. Trade and other payables

Current
2015-16
£000

Non-current
2015-16
£000

NHS payables: revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS payables: revenue
Non-NHS accruals
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables
Total Trade & Other Payables

291
3,107
5,219
14,439
48
52
434
23,590

Total payables (current and non-current)

23,590

Current
2014-15
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Non-current
2014-15
£000

1,150
3,860
940
15,051
42
48
593
21,684

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

21,684

At 31 March 2016, the clinical commissioning group had no liabilities due in future years under arrangements to buy out the
liability for early retirement over 5 years (31 March 2015: £0).
Other payables include £66k in respect of outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2016 (31 March 2015: £42k).

12. Provisions
Current
2015-16
£000

Non-current
2015-16
£000

Legal claims
Total

0
0

Total current and non-current

0
Legal Claims
£000s

Balance at 01 April 2015
Reversed unused
Balance at 31 March 2016

Current
2014-15
£000
0
0

Non-current
2014-15
£000
5
5

0
0

5
Total
£000s

5

5

(5)
0

(5)
0

The clinical commissioning group reversed a provision for a non clinical legal claim held by NHSLA in 2015-16 following
information received from NHSLA identifying the claim as relating to another NHS orginsation.
Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, 24 February 2015 and 22 February 2016, NHS
England is responsible for accounting for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims relating to periods of care
before establishment of the clinical commissioning group. However, the legal liability remains with the CCG. The total value of
legacy NHS Continuing Healthcare provisions accounted for by NHS England on behalf of this CCG at 31 March 2016 is
£3,691k (31 March 2015: £5,372k).

13. Contingencies
2015-16
£000
Contingent liabilities
Other
Net value of contingent liabilities

2014-15
£000
0
0

5
5

The clinical commissioning group has no contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2016.
The clinical commissioning group had one legal case outstanding as at 31 March 2015 for which a provision and linked
contingent liability had been identified. This related to excess in respect of a non clinical case held by NHSLA and identified to be
on behalf of the clinical commissioning group amounting to £5k.
The clinical commissioning group had no contingent assets as at 31 March 2016 (31 March 2015: none).
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14. Financial instruments
14.1. Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

Because the clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced
by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed
companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest
surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks
facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the clinical
commissioning group's standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by
the clinical commissioning group and internal auditors.

14.1.1 Currency risk
The clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in
the UK and sterling based. The clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The clinical commissioning group therefore has
low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

14.1.2 Interest rate risk
The cilnical commissioning group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England.
The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate,
fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

14.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the clinical commissioning group's revenue comes parliamentary funding, the clinical commissioning group has low
exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the
trade and other receivables note.

14.1.3 Liquidity risk
The clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted
annually by Parliament. The clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, from NHS England, as the need arises.
The clinical commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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14. Financial instruments (continued)
14.2. Financial assets
Loans and
Receivables
31 March 2016
£000
Receivables:
·          NHS
·          Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2016

217
114
91
2
424
Loans and
Receivables
31 March 2015
£000

Receivables:
·          NHS
·          Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2015

96
270
34
7
407

Total
31 March 2016
£000
217
114
91
2
424

Total
31 March 2015
£000
96
270
34
7
407

14.3 Financial liabilities
Other
31 March 2016
£000
Payables:
·          NHS
·          Non-NHS
Total at 31 March 2016

3,398
20,092
23,490
Other
31 March 2015
£000

Payables:
·          NHS
·          Non-NHS
Total at 31 March 2015

5,009
16,585
21,594

Total
31 March 2016
£000
3,398
20,092
23,490
Total
31 March 2015
£000
5,009
16,585
21,594

15. Operating segments
The clinical commissioning group has considered the definition of an operating segment contained within IFRS 8 in
determining its operating segments, in particular considering the internal reporting to the clinical commissioning
group's Governing Body, considered to be the 'chief operating decision maker' of the clinical commissioning group,
which was used for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of performance.
All activity performed by the clinical commissioning group relates to its role as a commissioner of healthcare for its
relevant population. As a result, the clinical commissioning group considers that it has only one operating segment,
being the commissioning of healthcare services.
An analysis of both the income and expenditure and net assets relating to the segment can be found in the statement
of comprehensive net expenditure and statement of financial position respectively.
20

NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2015-16

16. Pooled budgets
The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget with Sunderland City Council. The pool is hosted by
Sunderland City Council.
Under the arrangement funds are pooled under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006 for the Better Care Fund and a Mental
Capacity Act safeguarding practitioner.
The clinical commissioning group’s shares of the income and expenditure handled by the pooled budget in the financial year
were:
2015-16
£000
Income
Expenditure

2014-15
£000

0
(103,779)

0
(4,238)

The CCG has entered into a Section 75 agreement with Sunderland City Council in 2015-16 for the Better Care Fund which incorporated the
majority of existing pooled budget arrangements as well as additional areas. This has resulted in an increase in the pooled budget disclosure
note of £99,541k in 2015-16.

17. Intra-government and other balances
Current
Non-current
Current
Non-current
Receivables
Receivables
Payables
Payables
31 March 2016 31 March 2016 31 March 2016 31 March 2016
£000
£000
£000
£000
Balances with:
·          Other Central Government bodies
·          Local Authorities
Balances with NHS bodies:
·          NHS bodies outside the Departmental Group
·          NHS bodies within the NHS England Group
·          NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts
Total of balances with NHS bodies:
·          Public corporations and trading funds
·          Bodies external to Government
Total balances at 31 March 2016

21
27

0
0

416
3,545

0
0

0
216
992
1,208

0
0
0
0

0
227
3,171
3,398

0
0
0
0

0
135

0
0

0
16,231

0
0

1,391

0

23,590

0

Current
Non-current
Current
Non-current
Receivables
Receivables
Payables
Payables
31 March 2015 31 March 2015 31 March 2015 31 March 2015
£000
£000
£000
£000
Balances with:
·          Other Central Government bodies
·          Local Authorities
Balances with NHS bodies:
·          NHS bodies outside the Departmental Group
·          NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts
Total of balances with NHS bodies:
·          Public corporations and trading funds
·          Bodies external to Government
Total balances at 31 March 2015

21

10
232

0
0

347
2,454

0
0

26
1,179
1,205

0
0
0

91
4,918
5,009

0
0
0

0
67

0
0

0
13,874

0
0

1,514

0

21,684

0
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18. Related party transactions
During the year 2015-16 the clinical commissioning group has undertaken transactions with the following clinical commissioning group Governing Body members or members of the key
management staff, or parties related to any of them:

Name

Title

Dr Ian Pattison

Clinical Chair

Dr Ian Pattison

Clinical Chair

Pat Taylor

Lay Vice Chair

Dr Tracy Lucas

Executive GP

Dr Tracy Lucas

Executive GP

Dr Gerry McBride

Executive GP

Dr Gerry McBride

Executive GP

Dr Gerry McBride

Executive GP

Dr Valerie Taylor
Dr Valerie Taylor

Executive GP
Executive GP

Dr Henry Choi

Executive GP

Dr Jackie Gillespie

Executive GP

Dr Jackie Gillespie

Executive GP

Prof. Mike Bramble

Secondary Care Clinician

Dr Khalil

Interim Executive GP

Dr Khalil
Ann Fox
Gloria Middleton
Gloria Middleton
Gloria Middleton
Eric Harrison
Florence Gunn
Dr Geoff Stephenson
David Chandler

David Chandler
David Chandler

Declaration

GP Partner, Dr Pattison & Partner,
Southlands Medical Group
Partner is a GP Appraiser, NHS England.
Married to Commissioning Support Officer,
North of England Commissioning Support
GP Partner, Encompass Healthcare
Washington (until 30/11/2015)
GP Partner, Deerness Park Medical Group
(from 01/12/2015)
GP Partner, Ford & Partners, St Bede's
Medical Practice
Educational Role, Newcastle University
Married to Specialist Midwife at The
Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust
Salaried GP, Westbourne Medical Group
GP Appraiser , NHS England
GP Partner, Dr Cloak & Partners, Southwick
Health Centre
GP Partner, Millfield Medical Centre
Married to GP Partner at the Old Forge
Surgery, Sunderland
Part Time Medical Consultant, South Tees
NHS Foundation Trust
GP Partner, Broadway Medical Practice

Partner is Clinical Business Manager at
South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust.
Director Of Nursing, Quality And Director of Nursing, Quality & Safety, South
Safety
Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group
Practice Manager
Non Clinical Partner, Westbourne Medical
Representative
Group
Practice Manager
NEAS Community First Responder
Representative
Practice Manager
Specialist Advisor, Sunderland People First
Representative
Practice Manager
Practice Manager, Deerness Park Medical
Representative
Group
Strategic Practice Nurse
Practice Nurse, Pallion Family Practice
Managing GP Partner, Dr Stephenson &
Medical Director
Partners, Victoria Road Health Centre
Married to Head of Costing, Income &
Chief Finance Officer
Contracts, South Tyneside NHS Foundation
Trust
Friends with Assistant Finance Director
Income & Contracts, Newcastle Hospitals
Chief Finance Officer
NHS Foundation Trust
Brother of Nurse in ITU Unit, South Tyneside
Chief Finance Officer
NHS Foundation Trust
Interim Executive GP

David Chandler

Chief Finance Officer

David Chandler

Chief Finance Officer

Chris Macklin

Lay Member, Primary Care
Committee

Tarryn Lake

Head of Finance.

Scott Watson

Head Of Contracting

Scott Watson

Head Of Contracting

Related Party

Southlands Medical Group
NHS England
North of England Commissioning
Support
Encompass Healthcare
Deerness Park Medical Group
Ford & Partners, St Bede's Medical
Practice
Newcastle University
The Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals
NHS Foundation Trust
Westbourne Medical Group
NHS England

Payments
to Related
Party

Receipts
from
Related
Party

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party

Amounts
due from
Related
Party

£000

£000

£000

£000

695

0

39

12

7

69

0

0

2,702

0

58

35

909

0

67

12

1,912

0

226

0

1,005

0

63

0

92

0

20

0

10,158

0

128

1

876
7

0
69

59
0

2
0

Dr Cloak & Partners

1,220

0

104

8

Millfield Medical Centre

1,676

0

126

0

Old Forge Surgery, Sunderland

933

0

109

0

South Tees NHS Foundation Trust

530

0

85

0

733

0

62

5

30,684

0

780

0

Broadway Medical Practice (Dr
Mekkawy & Partners)*
South Tyneside NHS Foundation
Trust.
South Tyneside Clinical
Commissioning Group

175

65

0

0

Westbourne Medical Group

876

0

59

2

North East Ambulance NHS
Foundation Trust

12,292

0

169

0

5

0

0

0

Deerness Park Medical Group

1,912

0

226

0

Pallion Family Practice

1,299

0

95

31

Dr Stephenson & Partners

1,471

0

109

22

South Tyneside NHS Foundation
Trust

30,684

0

780

0

Sunderland People First

Newcastle Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust

South Tyneside NHS Foundation
Trust
Northumberland Tyne & Wear NHS
Friends with Head of Finance and Budgeting
Foundation Trust
Vice Chair, Northern Branch of Healthcare
Healthcare Financial Management
Financial Management Association (HFMA) Association (HFMA)
Member of the Council of Governers for
Northumberland Tyne & Wear NHS
Northumberland, Tyne & Wear NHS
Foundation Trust
Foundation Trust
Treasurer, Northern Branch of Healthcare
Healthcare Financial Management
Financial Management Association (HFMA) Association (HFMA)
Son of Leader of the Council, Sunderland
Sunderland City Council
City Council
Partnership arrangement with Actuate Ltd for
the provision of advice and guidance in
Actuate Ltd
relation to data / intelligence developments in
the public sector

10,158

0

128

1

30,684

0

780

0

54,134

0

106

0

8

0

0

0

54,134

0

106

0

8

0

0

0

46,785

666

3,514

0

28

0

0

0

During the year 2014-15 the clinical commissioning group undertook transactions with the following clinical commissioning group Governing Body members or members of the key management
staff, or parties related to any of them:

Payments
to Related
Party

Receipts
from
Related
Party

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party

Amounts
due from
Related
Party

£000

£000

£000

£000

61

0

0

0

2,597

0

86

0

Encompass Healthcare

125

0

19

0

Ford & Partners, St Bede's Medical
Practice

79

0

0

0

The Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals
NHS Foundation Trust

0

Name

Title

Declaration

Related Party

Dr Ian Pattison

Clinical Chair

Partner, Dr Pattison & Partner, Southlands
Medical Group

Southlands Medical Group

Pat Taylor

Lay Vice Chair

Married to Commissioning Support Officer,
North of England Commissioning Support

North of England Commissioning
Support

Dr Tracy Lucas

Executive GP
Executive GP & Governance /
Public Patient Involvement (PPI)
Lead
Executive GP & Governance /
Public Patient Involvement (PPI)
Lead
Executive GP
Executive GP & Clinical
Effectiveness Lead
Executive GP & Prescribing
Lead
Executive GP & Prescribing
Lead

GP, Encompass Healthcare Washington
Partner, Ford & Partners, St Bede's Medical
Practice

Dr Gerry McBride

Dr Gerry McBride
Dr Valerie Taylor
Dr Henry Choi
Dr Jackie Gillespie
Dr Jackie Gillespie
Prof. Mike Bramble
Ann Fox
Gloria Middleton
Gloria Middleton
Dr Geoff Stephenson
David Chandler
Scott Watson

Scott Watson

Married to Specialist Midwife at The
Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust
Salaried GP, Kepier Medical Practice
Partner, Dr Cloak & Partners, Southwick
Health Centre
Partner, Millfield Medical Centre

Married to Dr P Peverley, GP Partner at the
Old Forge Surgery, Sunderland
Part Time Medical Consultant, South Tees
Secondary Care Clinician
NHS Foundation Trust
Director Of Nursing, Quality And Director of Nursing, Quality & Safety, South
Safety
Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group
Practice Manager
Partner, Westbourne Medical Group
Representative
Practice Manager
NEAS Community First Responder
Representative
Managing Partner, Dr Stephenson &
Medical Director
Partners, Victoria Road Health Centre
Married to Jane Fay, head of costing, income
Head Of Finance
& contracts, South Tyneside NHS Foundation
Trust
Son of Councillor Paul Watson, Sunderland
Head Of Contracting
City Council
Partnership arrangement with Actuate Ltd for
the provision of advice and guidance in
Head Of Contracting
relation to data / intelligence developments in
the public sector

8,855

0

387

Kepier Medical Practice

87

0

0

0

Dr Cloak & Partners

134

0

2

0

Millfield Medical Centre

176

0

1

0

Old Forge Surgery, Sunderland

104

0

0

0

South Tees NHS Foundation Trust

823

0

96

0

South Tyneside Clinical
Commissioning Group

234

55

0

1

Westbourne Medical Group

57

0

3

0

North East Ambulance NHS
Foundation Trust

12,189

0

633

0

166

0

2

0

Dr Stephenson & Partners
South Tyneside NHS Foundation
Trust

29,060

0

158

0

Sunderland City Council

29,330

953

2,097

232

18

0

3

0

Actuate Ltd

22
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18. Related party transactions (continued)
The clinical commissioning group is a membership organisation. The GP Practices of Sunderland are all members of the clinical commissioning group. The table below lists the
2015-16 related party transactions with the Member Practices of Sunderland.
In addition, the clinical commissioning group works with two GP alliance organisations who are part of a collobaration agreement with practices in Sunderland. The table below
outlines the transactions with these two organisations and outlines the practices who are members of each GP alliance.

Payments
to Related
Party

Possible Related Party

£000
1,912
525
613
1,732
791
985
1,299
698
957
1,471
658
509
704
265
1,114
1,005
1,676
745
1,220
933
1,167
681
919
733
909
441
755
953
326
876
588
439
695
254
790
388
693
828
333
582
483
332
521
584
302
337
320
602
344
353
14
807
1,565
33

Deerness Park Medical Group*
Drs Bhate & El-Shakankery (Riverview Health Centre)*
Dr Vakharia & Hegde (The Galleries Health Centre)**
Dr H Pepper & Partners (Hetton Group Practice)*
Dr Brigham & Partners (Vilette Surgery)*
Dr Shetty & Partners*
Dr Lefley & Associates (Pallion Family Practice)*
Dr Reddy & Partners (Redhouse Medical Centre)*
Dr Lilley & Partners (Herrington Medical Centre)*
Dr Stephenson & Partners*
Dr Joshi (Village Surgery)*
Dr Dixit Practice (The Galleries Health Centre)**
New City Medical Group
Roker Family Practice
Dr Rutherford & Partners (Fulwell Medical Group)*
Dr Ford & Partners (St. Bede's Medical Practice)*
Dr Wright & Partners (Millfield Medical Group)*
Ashburn Medical Centre (Dr Parry & Partners)*
Dr Cloak & Partners*
Dr Spagnoli & Partners (Old Forge Surgery)*
Dr Mishreki & Partners (Kepier Medical Practice)*
Dr Mazarelo & Partners (Concord Medical Practice)**
Houghton Medical Group*
Broadway Medical Practice (Dr Mekkawy & Partners)*
Encompass Health Care**
Victoria Medical Practice (Dr Ray)
Springwell Medical Group (Dr Sharma & Partners)*
Grangewood Surgery (Dr Wallace & Partners)*
Springwell House (Dr Singh Sunderland)
Westbourne Medical Group*
Colliery Medical Group (Dr K Stephenson)*
Park Lane Practice (Drs Mackrell & Joseph)*
Southlands Medical Group (Dr Pattison & Partner)*
Castletown Medical Group*
Barmston Medical Centre**
Monkwearmouth Medical Centre*
Dr Weaver (Happy House Surgery)
Church View Medical Centre*
Dr Obonna*
Dr Weatherhead & Associates*
Conishead Medical Group (Dr Hipwell)*
Eden Terrace Surgery*
Dr Nathan (Riverview)*
South Hylton Surgery (Dr Widdrington & Partner)*
Rickleton Medical Centre (Dr Aiyegbayo)*
Harraton Surgery
Dr Thomas (Victoria Road Health Centre)*
Pennywell Medical Centre*
Chester Surgery (Dr El Safy)*
Dr Bhatt & Dr Benn*
Encompass GP Practice Two**
Pallion Health Centre*
Sunderland GP Alliance (Collaboration of Local Practices)
Washington Community Health Care (Collaboration of Local Practices)

Receipts
from
Related
Party
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£000
226
28
42
123
58
149
95
59
91
109
42
31
48
24
69
63
126
44
104
109
94
42
74
62
67
20
56
82
35
59
43
31
39
23
59
39
51
53
16
48
29
19
34
52
35
19
22
38
24
25
0
94
491
0

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
0
0
11
0
0
20
31
0
0
22
12
10
0
0
0
0
0
0
8
0
0
6
8
5
12
4
6
0
0
2
10
11
12
0
14
6
0
0
3
3
9
0
47
0
0
0
4
4
0
4
0
18
5
0

* Member Practice of Sunderland GP Alliance
** Member Practice of Washington Community Health Care
All of these transactions were undertaken under standard terms and conditions in the normal course of business. The clinical commissioning group has entered into an agreement
with NHS England to undertake delegated commissioning of primary care GP services in 2015-16 which has increased the level of transactions with member practices in 2015-16.
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year 2015-16 the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of material transactions with
entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example:
Payments
to Related
Party

Department of Health Entity

£000
183,964
54,134
30,684
21,626
12,292

City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust
Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust
South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust
Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust
North East Ambulance Services NHS Foundation Trust

Receipts
from
Related
Party
£000
0
0
0
0
0

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£000
1,277
106
780
110
169

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
984
0
0
0
0

In addition, the clinical commissioning group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies in 201516. Most of these transactions have been with Sunderland City Council as outlined below.
Payments
to Related
Party

Other Government Bodies

£000
46,785

Sunderland City Council
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Receipts
from
Related
Party
£000
666

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£000
3,514

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
0
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18. Related party transactions (continued)
The table below lists the related party transactions with the Member Practices of Sunderland in 2014-15

Possible Related Party

Payments to
Related
Party

Receipts
from
Related
Party

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party

Amounts
due from
Related
Party

£000

£000

£000

£000

241
45
63
220
84
177
134
66
125
166
53
56
75
23
112
79
176
65
134
104
87
55
90
82
125
31
80
89
24
57
71
59
43
61
14
18
29
55
70
21
94
3
21
45
78
38
25
16
32
34
28
28
423
117
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

19
2
1
9
2
20
1
1
1
2
1
1
1
0
0
0
1
0
2
0
0
1
2
1
19
0
2
1
0
3
2
2
1
0
3
0
2
1
2
1
6
1
1
1
1
2
1
0
2
1
2
2
0
117
27

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Deerness Park Medical Group*
Drs Bhate & El-Shakankery (Riverview Health Centre)*
Dr Vakharia & Hegde (The Galleries Health Centre)**
Dr H Pepper & Partners (Hetton Group Practice)*
Dr Brigham & Partners (Vilette Surgery)*
Dr Shetty & Partners*
Dr Lefley & Associates*
Dr Reddy & Partners (Redhouse Medical Centre)*
Dr Lilley & Partners (Herrington Medical Centre)*
Dr Stephenson & Partners*
Dr Joshi (Village Surgery)*
Dr Dixit Practice (The Galleries Health Centre)**
New City Medical Group
Roker Family Practice
Dr Rutherford & Partners (Fulwell Medical Group)*
Dr Ford & Partners (St. Bede's Medical Practice)*
Dr Wright & Partners (Millfield Medical Group)*
Ashburn Medical Centre (Dr Parry & Partners)*
Dr Cloak & Partners*
Dr Spagnoli & Partners (Old Forge Surgery)*
Dr Mishreki & Partners (Kepier Medical Practice)*
Dr Mazarelo & Partners (Concord Medical Practice)**
Houghton Medical Group*
Broadway Medical Practice (Dr Mekkawy & Partners)*
Encompass Health Care**
Victoria Medical Practice (Dr Ray)
Springwell Medical Group (Dr Sharma & Partners)*
Grangewood Surgery (Dr Wallace & Partners)*
Springwell House (Dr Singh Sunderland)
Westbourne Medical Group*
Hylton Medical Group (Dr Ela & Al Khalidi)*
Colliery Medical Group (Dr K Stephenson)*
Park Lane Practice (Drs Mackrell & Joseph)*
Southlands Medical Group (Dr Pattison & Partner)*
Castletown Medical Group*
Barmston Medical Centre**
Monkwearmouth Medical Centre*
Dr Weaver (Happy House Surgery)
Church View Medical Centre*
Dr Obonna*
Dr Weatherhead & Associates*
Conishead Medical Group (Dr Hipwell)*
Eden Terrace Surgery*
Dr Nathan (Riverview)*
South Hylton Surgery (Dr Widdrington & Partner)*
Rickleton Medical Centre (Dr Aiyegbayo)*
Harraton Surgery
Wearside Practice (Dr Johannes Dalhuijsen)
Dr Thomas (Victoria Road Health Centre)*
Pennywell Medical Centre
Chester Surgery (Dr El Safy)*
Dr Bhatt & Dr Benn*
Encompass GP Practice Two**
Sunderland GP Alliance (Collaboration of Local Practices)
Washington Community Health Care (Collaboration of Local Practices)
* Member Practice of Sunderland GP Alliance
** Member Practice of Washington Community Health Care

All of these transactions were undertaken under standard terms and conditions in the normal course of business.
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year 2014-15 the clinical commissioning group had a significant number of material
transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example:

Department of Health Entity

City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust
Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust
South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust
Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust
North East Ambulance Services NHS Foundation Trust

Payments to
Related
Party

Receipts
from
Related
Party

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party

Amounts
due from
Related
Party

£000
188,187
51,399
29,060
17,014
12,189

£000
0
0
0
0
0

£000
2,065
558
158
283
633

£000
1,102
0
0
0
0

In addition, the clinical commissioning group had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local
government bodies in 2014-15. Most of these transactions were with Sunderland City Council as outlined below.

Other Government Bodies

Sunderland City Council

Payments to
Related
Party
£000
29,330

24

Receipts
from
Related
Party
£000
953

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£000
2,097

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
232
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19. Events after the end of the reporting period
There are no post balance sheet events which would have a material effect on the financial statements of the clinical commissioning group (2014-15: none)

20. Losses and special payments
The total number of losses and special payments cases, and their total value, was as follows:

Administrative write-offs
Total

Total Number
of Cases
2015-16
Number
1
1

Total Value of
Cases
2015-16
£'000
2
2

Total Number of
Cases
2014-15
Number
0
0

Total Value of
Cases
2014-15
£'000
0
0

Although a bad debt provision has been provided for in 2015-16, the clinical commissioning group is continuing to pursue this liability.

21. Financial performance targets
NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:
NHS Act Section

Duty

223H (1)

Expenditure not to exceed income

223I (2)

Capital resource use does not exceed the
amount specified in Directions

223I (3)

Total Revenue resource use does not exceed
the amount specified in Directions

223J (1)

Capital resource use on specified matter(s)
does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions

223J (2)

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s)
does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions

223J (3)

Revenue administration resource use does
not exceed the amount specified in Directions

2015-16
Target
514,113

2015-16
Performance
495,459

Duty
Achieved?
Yes

2014-15
Target
Performance
453,396
434,276

Duty
Achieved?
Yes

0

0

Yes

0

0

Yes

514,113

495,459

Yes

453,396

434,276

Yes

0

0

Yes

0

0

Yes

0

0

Yes

0

0

Yes

6,228

5,398

Yes

7,746

6,279

Yes

The CCG received no capital resource during the year ended 31 March 2016 and incurred no capital expenditure (year ended 31 March 2015: £0)
Performance against the revenue expenditure duties is further analysed below:

Revenue resource
Net operating cost for the financial year
Underspend against revenue resource

2015-16
Programme
Resource
£000

2015-16
Administration
Resource
£000

507,885
490,061
17,824

6,228
5,398
830

25

2015-16
Total
£000
514,113
495,459
18,654

2014-15
Programme
Resource
£000
445,650
427,998
17,652

2014-15
Administration
Resource
£000
7,746
6,279
1,467

2014-15
Total
£000
453,396
434,277
19,119

